
 

 

Agenda - Climate Change, Environment, and 

Infrastructure Committee 
Meeting Venue: 

Committee room 4 Tŷ Hywel  

and video Conference via Zoom 

Meeting date: 8 January 2025 

Meeting time: 08.45

For further information contact: 

Marc Wyn Jones 

Committee Clerk 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddClimate@senedd.wales

Hybrid 
------ 

Private pre-meeting (08.45-09.00) 

Public meeting (09.00-12.15) 

 

1 Introductions, apologies, substitutions, and declarations of 

interest 

(09.00)   

 

2 Scrutiny of the Welsh Government Draft Budget 2025-26 - Deputy 

First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Climate Change and Rural 

Affairs 

(09.00-10.30) (Pages 1 - 58)  

Huw Irranca-Davies MS, Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for 

Climate Change and Rural Affairs 

Claire Bennett, Director of Climate Change and Environmental Sustainability - 

Welsh Government 

Jamie Powell, Deputy Director of Finance - Welsh Government 

Attached Documents:  

Research brief - Scrutiny of the Draft Climate Change Budget 

Paper - Welsh Government 

 

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



 

 

Break (10.30-10.45) 

 

3 Scrutiny of the Welsh Government Draft Budget 2025-26 - 

Cabinet Secretary for Transport and North Wales 

(10.45-12.15) (Pages 59 - 98)  

Ken Skates MS, Cabinet Secretary for Transport and North Wales 

Peter McDonald, Director Economic Infrastructure - Welsh Government 

Alex Walters, Deputy Director Public and Integrated Transport - Welsh 

Government 

Chris Warner, Deputy Director Transport Strategy and Policy - Welsh 

Government 

Attached Documents:  

Research brief - Scrutiny of the Draft Transport Budget 

Paper - Welsh Government 

Additional evidence from the Cabinet Secretary for Transport and North 

Wales to the Chair in relation to the Draft Budget 2025-26 

 

4 Papers to note (12.15)   

4.1 Restoration of opencast mining sites 

 (Pages 99 - 112)  

Attached Documents:  

Letter from the Chair to the Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for 

Climate Change and Rural Affairs in relation to the committee's inquiry on 

the restoration of opencast mining sites 

Response from the Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Climate 

Change and Rural Affairs to the Chair in relation to the committee's inquiry 

on the restoration of opencast mining sites 

Letter from the Chair to Merthyr (South Wales) Ltd in relation to the 

committee's inquiry on the restoration of opencast mining sites 



 

 

4.2 Inter-ministerial Group on UK-EU Relations 

 (Pages 113 - 114)  

Attached Documents:  

Letter from the Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Climate 

Change and Rural Affairs to the Chair in relation to the Inter-Ministerial 

Group for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 

Letter from the Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Climate 

Change and Rural Affairs to the Chair in relation to the Interministerial Group 

on Net Zero, Energy and Climate Change 

4.3 Inter-Institutional Relations Agreement 

 (Page 115)  

Attached Documents:  

Letter from the First Minister to the Chair of the Legislation, Justice and 

Constitution Committee in relation to the Inter-Institutional Relations 

Agreement: 42nd British-Irish Council Summit 

4.4 Petition P-06-1478 Comprehensively review NRW and its failure to deliver its 

statutory obligations to protect Wales 

 (Pages 116 - 117)  

Attached Documents:  

Letter from the Chair of the Petitions Committee to the Chair in relation to 

Petition P-06-1478 Comprehensively review NRW and its failure to deliver its 

statutory obligations to protect Wales 

4.5 Welsh Government Draft Budget 2025-26 

 (Pages 118 - 130)  

Attached Documents:  

Response from the Cabinet Secretary for Economy, Energy and Planning to 

the Chair in relation to the Draft Budget 2025-26 

4.6 UK Emissions Trading Scheme - Common Framework 

 (Pages 131 - 132)  



 

 

Attached Documents:  

Letter from the Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Climate 

Change and Rural Affairs to the Chair in relation to the UK Emissions Trading 

Scheme 

4.7 General scrutiny of the Cabinet Secretary for Transport and North Wales 

 (Pages 133 - 136)  

Attached Documents:  

Response from the Cabinet Secretary for Transport and North Wales to the 

Chair following the 27 November scrutiny session 

Letter from the Cabinet Secretary for Transport and North Wales to Transport 

for Wales following the 27 November scrutiny session 

 

5 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 (vi) and (ix) to resolve to 

exclude the public from the remainder of this meeting and the 

start of the meeting on 23 January 

(12.15)   

 

Private meeting (12.15-12.45) 

 

6 Consideration of evidence received under items 2 and 3 

   

7 Consideration of the Supplementary Legislative Consent 

Memorandum (Memorandum No.4) on the Water (Special 

Measures) Bill 

 (Pages 137 - 142)  

Attached Documents:  

Legal note on the Supplementary Legislative Consent Memorandum 

(Memorandum No.4) on the Water (Special Measures) Bill 



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Background  

The Draft Budget includes spending plans for 2025-26. This paper provides evidence to 
the Committee on the future programme budget proposals in relation to the budgets 
within the Climate Change & Environment Sustainability (CCES) portfolio within the 
Climate Change area of the Climate Change & Rural Affairs Main Expenditure Group 
(MEG) as outlined in the Draft Budget which was published on 10 December 2024.  

  

Annex A provides a breakdown of the relevant Draft Budget figures for the CCES area of 
the Climate Change & Rural Affairs MEG by Action and Budget Expenditure Line (BEL). 
These figures are reflected in the table below.  

 

Welsh Government 
 

 
 
Climate Change, Environment, 
and Infrastructure Committee 
Welsh Government Draft 
Budget Scrutiny 2025-26 
08/01/2025 

www.gov.wales Pack Page 17



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

2 

Contents 

Budget Allocations ................................................................................................... 3 

Legislation ................................................................................................................... 11 

Environment ............................................................................................................... 13 

Climate Change ........................................................................................................ 23 

Natural Resources Wales ..................................................................................... 25 

6. Annex A – Allocations by Spending Programme Area, Action and 
Budget Expenditure Line (BEL) ......................................................................... 27 

 

 

 

 

  

Pack Page 18



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

3 

Budget Allocations 

Revenue 

BEL 
No.  BEL Description 

£'000 £’000  £'000 
2025-26 

Restated 
Baseline 

2025-26  
Budget 

Movement 

2025-26 
Draft 

Budget 

2812 
Environment Legislation, 
Governance and 
Communications 

637 1,340 1,977 

2809 Welsh Government Energy 
Service 3,970 200 4,170 

2817 Environment Protection 6,402 320 6,722 
3771 Climate Change Action 3,596 200 3,796 

2230 Flood Risk Management & 
Water Policy Delivery 4,225 -1,244 2,981 

2195 Landfill Disposals Tax 
Communities Scheme 500 0 500 

2825 Biodiversity, Evidence and 
Plant Health 11,444 76 11,520 

2827 Forestry 6,436 0 6,436 
2820 Local Places for Nature 2,950 -300 2,650 

2837 Env Act implementation 
(move to 2812) 890 -890 0 

2451 Natural Resources Wales 124,339 19,065 143,404 

2454 Natural Resources Wales - 
Timber Income -33,080 0 -33,080 

2455 Windfarm Income via 
NRW -10,000 0 -10,000 

2190 Resource Efficiency and 
Circular Economy 32,400 3,400 35,800 

2490 Designated Landscapes & 
Countryside Access 11,626 1,425 13,051 

2802 Plant & Wildlife Protection 896 511 1,407 
2803 New National Park 700 -700 0 
2232 Coal Tip Safety Delivery 3,836 2,000 5,836 

2875 Marine Policy, Evidence 
and Funding 1,661 700 2,361 

 Total 173,428   199,531 
 Total Revenue Increase  26,103 13% 

 

 

 

Pack Page 19



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

4 

 

Capital 

BEL 
No. BEL Description 

£'000 £’000  £'000 
2024-25 

Restated 
Final 

Budget 

2025-26  
Budget 

Movement 

2025-26 
Draft 

Budget 

2232 Coal Tip & Reservoir 
Safety Delivery 10,300 27,917 38,217 

2230 
Flood Risk Man & 
Water Policy 
Delivery 

27,000 3,021 30,021 

2451 Natural Resources 
Wales 25,106 2,700 27,806 

2817 Environment 
Protection 300 2,386 2,686 

2490  
Designated 
Landscapes & 
Countryside Access 

8,900 0 8,900 

2809 
Welsh Government 
Energy Service 

12,000 0 12,000 

2820 Local Places for 
Nature 19,790 -7,226 12,564 

2825  
Biodiversity, 
Evidence and Plant 
Health 

12,500 0 
 

12,500 

2827 Forestry 9,310 0 9,310 

2190 
Resource Efficiency 
and Circular 
Economy 

46,853 -5,000 41,853 

 Total 172,069  195,857 
 Total Increase  23,798 14% 

 

Financial Transactions Capital 

BEL 
No. 

BEL Description 

£'000 £’000 £'000 

2024-25 
Restated 

Final 
Budget 

2025-26 
Budget 

Movement 

2025-26 
Draft 

Budget 

2809 
Welsh Government 
Energy Service 0 10,000 10,000 

 Total 0 10,000 10,000 

Pack Page 20



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

5 

 

Prioritisation of Budget 

1.) My aim is to ensure our natural resources are sustainably managed. To achieve 
this, the budget allows me to drive forward action on the following priorities: 

• Tackling the climate emergency to build a fairer, safer future and secure 
green jobs.  

• Taking action to protect and restore nature in Wales and to connect people 
to the natural world.  

• Creating a sustainable future for Welsh food, fisheries and farming. 

• Improving the health and wellbeing of our communities by cutting waste 
and pollution, and using regulation to drive innovation, create markets and 
keep people safe.  

• Improving health and animal welfare. 

2.) Tackling the climate emergency is a priority across Cabinet.  In my own 
portfolio, I continue to fund the central capacity necessary to enable the whole 
of Welsh Government to develop and deliver our carbon budgets. This is 
integral to delivering our overall approach our climate resilience.   

3.) I am also continuing funding for the Welsh Government Energy Service which 
provides critical advice and support to public bodies as they work towards our 
shared ambition of a net zero Welsh public sector by 2030.  Circular Economy 
has received additional resource funding to continue to build on Wales’ world 
leading performance on recycling and to realise the economic opportunities 
arising from keeping resources and materials in use for as long as possible and 
avoiding waste.  The reduction in capital reflects the profile of Local Authorities 
projects in 2025/26. 

4.) I continue to invest in environmental protection, minimising the impact of 
environmental hazards on health and wellbeing.  This includes a substantial 
increase in investment in coal tips safety, an increase in funding to improve 
water quality, continued investment in flood risk management and funding for 
Natural Resources Wales to ensure effective regulation of pollution.  

5.) Investment in restoring nature, access to the countryside, green space and 
community engagement with nature continues through our Nature Networks 

Pack Page 21



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

6 

and Local Places for Nature programmes and investment support the Wales 
Coastal path and other access work.    

6.) The Coal Tip Safety will see a significant uplift in funding reflecting the priority 
this Government has placed on ensuring the safety of our communities. 

7.) The Coal Tip Safety Grant Scheme, which was set up in 2020-21 in response to 
the widely reported tip slip at Tylorstown in 2020, will continue with significant 
additional funding. The grant scheme makes funding available to Local 
Authorities and NRW to complete maintenance activities on both publicly and 
privately owned coal tips to ensure that these remain in a condition whereby 
the threat of a slip is controlled and minimized. High profile examples of 
where previous budget have been used include Tylorstown remediation works, 
and Dyffryn Rhondda.  

8.) In order to continue and to expand work in this area the scheme for 2025/26 
has been increased by a further £12m in addition to the £36m that has been 
provided by the UK Government as part of the Autumn budget. This will bring 
our total investment n coal tip safety to £102m in this Senedd term. 

9.) Secondly, the budget recognises the implementation costs arising from the 
Disused Mine and Quarry Tips (Wales) Bill which is being introduced in 
December 2024. Budget allocations have been made in relation to the costs of 
setting up a new body, as also outlined in the RIA. Funding has also been 
included for the continuation of the Mining Remediation Authority (formerly 
the Coal Authority) for works regarding the inspection regime. 

10.) Reservoir safety is also of critical importance given the risks if they are not 
maintained and the future forecast for changes to the climate in Wales. This 
has been reflected in the budget allocations with £4.9m being made available 
for reservoir safety. This recognises Welsh Government statutory duties for the 
NRW estates and for orphan reservoirs.  

11.) I have prioritised funding for delivery partners, including Natural Resources 
Wales and National Parks, recognising their crucial role and the funding 
pressures they face. I have also increased capital funding for water quality, 
recognising the need to step up progress. 

12.) The reduction in Local Places for Nature funding reflects the significance of 
pressures elsewhere, including for water quality and reservoir safety, but the 
value of the programme has been recognised by maintaining a significant level 
of investment.    

Pack Page 22



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

7 

Previous Commitments from scrutiny of the 2024/25 budget 

13.) I have considered the commitments the Welsh Government made in response 
to the Committee’s recommendations in relation the 2024-25 budget in 
proposing these allocations.  I have summarised the approach, grouped under 
the headings in the Committee’s report. 

Biodiversity 

14.) I have considered very carefully the potential to expand the scope of the 
Nature Networks programme in line with the ambition I know the Committee 
shares with me.  On balance, I concluded there was insufficient headroom 
across the other pressures on the budget to expand the programme further 
next financial year.  However, the additional investment in water quality and a 
number of the schemes including the Integrated Natural Resources Scheme 
(INRS) and the Habitats Wales Scheme which form part of the SFS Preparatory 
phase will contribute to positive biodiversity outcomes.  Work has progressed 
on principles for sustainable and ethical green finance and there are a number 
of ambitious proposals for nature restoration emerging.  

Marine 

15.) In 24/25 I have continued to ensure that funding across Marine Programmes is 
prioritised which includes funding for the “Assessing Wales Fishing Activities in 
MPA’s project”. I have provided funding to Natural Resources Wales to 
undertake a further 60 assessments. 

16.)Funding to support Seagrass restoration is available through the Nature 
Networks Fund and the Marine Protected Area Management Grant Scheme. I 
remain committed to the delivery of the Marine Conservation Zone (MCZ) 
designation programme. I have allocated budget to undertake the Regulatory 
Impact Assessment of the proposed sites, which will commence in January 
2025.  

17.) Additionally, despite budget reductions in 24-25, we have delivered the Marine 
Protected Area Framework and continue to develop Strategic Resource Areas 
as well as commissioning an independent review of the National Marine Plan. I 
have also allocated funds to the Marine Fund Cymru. 

Waste 

Pack Page 23



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

8 

18.)April 2025 will see the first year of payments to Local Authorities under the 
Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) scheme for packaging which we have 
jointly developed on a four nations basis. The Welsh Government's intention is 
that the funding from the EPR scheme for packaging to cover the costs of 
managing packaging waste should be additional to the funding Local 
Authorities have previously received via the Local Government Settlement, 
subject to the agreement of the budget by the Senedd. This means that rather 
than maintaining grant funding, it will unlock additional investment to 
improve recycling against the 70 per cent minimum statutory target and 
support wider action as a key part of the action to decarbonise and grow the 
green economy. 

19.) Capital funding has been slightly reduced this year, reflecting the profile of 
projects in the pipeline, but it is anticipated that demand for funding will 
increase from 2026/27 onwards. 

20.) The Landfill Tax Disposal Scheme continues to operate and is currently open 
for applications.  The most recent annual report setting out the impact of the 
Scheme is available at:   

https://wcva.cymru/wp-content/uploads/2024/11/WCVA-Landfill-Disposals-
Tax-Communities-Scheme-Annual-report-23-24.pdf 

Natural Resources Wales 

21.) Ensuring Natural Resources Wales receives commensurate funding to 
undertake its role effectively has been a priority in setting this budget. In July, 
Natural Resources Wales undertook a formal consultation with its recognised 
Trade Unions and engaged with its staff in relations to its proposed ‘Case for 
Change’. Its Case for Change is intended to support a reshaping of the 
organisation so that it can operate effectively within the available budget. The 
draft budget will provide the basis for the next phase of the organisation’s 
development and a platform for transformation in key areas like regulation and 
enforcement.  For 2024-25, we have operated an arrangement to share the 
timber income risk with Natural Resources Wales these arrangements will 
remain in place for 2025-26.   

Flooding and Water 

22.) I am pleased to have been able to allocate £2m for Natural Flood 
Management following the initial accelerator programme.  I have maintained 

Pack Page 24

https://wcva.cymru/wp-content/uploads/2024/11/WCVA-Landfill-Disposals-Tax-Communities-Scheme-Annual-report-23-24.pdf?_gl=1*1qlaey5*_up*MQ..*_ga*NjU4ODQ3NTIwLjE3MzI4MjExNDQ.*_ga_F0PS9P8RG5*MTczMjgyMTE0My4xLjAuMTczMjgyMTE0My4wLjAuMA..*_ga_FMHNECEX0P*MTczMjgyMTE0My4xLjAuMTczMjgyMTE0My4wLjAuMA
https://wcva.cymru/wp-content/uploads/2024/11/WCVA-Landfill-Disposals-Tax-Communities-Scheme-Annual-report-23-24.pdf?_gl=1*1qlaey5*_up*MQ..*_ga*NjU4ODQ3NTIwLjE3MzI4MjExNDQ.*_ga_F0PS9P8RG5*MTczMjgyMTE0My4xLjAuMTczMjgyMTE0My4wLjAuMA..*_ga_FMHNECEX0P*MTczMjgyMTE0My4xLjAuMTczMjgyMTE0My4wLjAuMA
https://wcva.cymru/wp-content/uploads/2024/11/WCVA-Landfill-Disposals-Tax-Communities-Scheme-Annual-report-23-24.pdf?_gl=1*1qlaey5*_up*MQ..*_ga*NjU4ODQ3NTIwLjE3MzI4MjExNDQ.*_ga_F0PS9P8RG5*MTczMjgyMTE0My4xLjAuMTczMjgyMTE0My4wLjAuMA..*_ga_FMHNECEX0P*MTczMjgyMTE0My4xLjAuMTczMjgyMTE0My4wLjAuMA


Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

9 

record levels of funding for flood and coastal risk management for Risk 
Management Authorities, having moved Natural Resources Wales’ funding into 
the same BEL as wider Grant in Aid.   

23.) I have made an additional £3m capital allocation for water quality action 
recognising the need to address the drivers of poor water quality bringing our 
investment to £18.021m. This will enable the continuation of a multi-year, 
multi-site programme of interventions delivered across opportunity 
catchments, national scale projects, river restoration and protected areas 
including Special Areas of Conservation (SAC) rivers. 

Environmental Governance  

24.) I have increased the funding for the Interim Environmental Protection 
Assessor Wales for the provision of the appointment of the additional Deputy 
Interim Assessor.  I have also made provision for initial development of 
proposals for an Environmental Governance Body. 

UK Government Policy Decisions 

25.) The UK Government’s recognition of the case for investment in coal tip safety 
has enabled a significant uplift in funding.  

26.) The UK government have confirmed that they have allocated £25m (£23m 
capital, £2m revenue) for FY 2025-26 in relation to coal tip safety. This will bring 
our total investment n coal tip safety to £102m in this Senedd term. 

 

27.) The draft budget will enable funded programmes to be expanded, providing 
grant funding to Local Authorities and Natural Resources Wales to complete 
maintenance activities on both publicly and privately owned coal tips to 
ensure that these remain in a condition whereby the threat of a slip is 
controlled and minimised. 

28.) The primary focus is to ensure that disused tips are safe and to deliver a 
modernised, fit-for-purpose regulatory regime. Once a new Bill has been 
implemented, it will be important to focus on developing resource capacity 
and capability (which is a limiting factor in the delivery of a long-term 
reclamation strategy), as well as developing a more detailed strategic approach 
to mining and industrial legacy in Wales. 

Pack Page 25



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

10 

29.) Welsh Government and Defra have agreed to work together to consider 
regulatory reforms to the reservoir safety program. 

Tackling the Nature Emergency 

30.) The Budget Improvement Plan includes a prevention agenda which is 
shaped by the work of Budget Improvement and Impact Advisory Group 
(BIIAG). A sub-group working with BIIAG is in the early stages of embedding 
‘prevention’ – avoiding harmful unintended impacts - into the budget setting 
process. The sub-group is using biodiversity as an area to pilot ideas such as the 
development of a toolkit and providing advice to policymakers and Welsh 
Treasury, based on insights from the Dasgupta review and expects to report on 
progress in 2025. 

31.) Subject to the findings from this pilot, we will explore a whole-budget 
approach to preventative activity. This work will support our ambition to 
mainstream delivery for biodiversity and ecosystem resilience across the 
organisation and our partners. 

32.) Officials from Treasury, Decarbonisation and Biodiversity are involved with the 
Next Generation Budgets project. This is a 21-month project, ending in February 
2026, run by the ‘Climate Group’ that trains and supports devolved 
governments in the design of green ‘next generation budgets’. The project 
aims to align public budgeting with climate neutrality goals and help unlock 
financing, building on and informed by technical training and international 
best practice.   

Pack Page 26



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

11 

Legislation  

The Environmental Protection (Single-use Plastic Products) 
(Wales) Act 2023  

33.) Funding will be used to raise awareness and develop communication 
materials to support the commencement of the bans on the remaining 
products i.e. plastic carrier bags, products made of oxo-degradable plastic and 
polystyrene lids for cups and food containers; as listed in Table 1, Scheule 1 of 
the Environmental Protection (Single-use Plastic Products) (Wales) Act 2023. 

Delivery of Workplace Recycling Regulations 

34.) The draft budget provides for the work associated with the development of 
the legislation for extended producer responsibility scheme for packaging 
(EPR) and the deposit return scheme for drink containers (DRS). The EPR 
reforms are being taken forward on a UK wide basis, with extensive Welsh 
Government policy and legal services input.  The DRS regulations will be made 
on a Wales only basis. 

The proposed Disused Tips (Mines and Quarries) Bill; 

35.) The draft revenue budget for 2025-26 includes £0.4m towards 
implementation expenditure to ensure work can continue in preparation for 
the completion of the Bill.  

36.) The Regulatory Impact Assessment has also been completed. This provides 
detailed costings for the establishment of the Authority, including staffing 
costs, as well as the running costs once the Authority goes live, on 1 April 2027.  

The Environment (Air Quality and Soundscapes) (Wales) Act 
2024 

37.) We will need to make important evidence-informed decisions regarding the 
scale and timing of the implementation, whilst complying with the time limits 
set out in the Act, of some of the secondary legislation and making of 
associated regulations.   Specific funding is supporting implementation of the 
Act which includes a £1 million annual Local Air Quality Management grant to 
support local authorities in delivering local air quality improvements.  This 
funding will also enable delivery of the plan’s actions encompassing public 

Pack Page 27



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

12 

behavioural change and engagement aimed at tackling idling and domestic 
burning.    

Bill on Environmental Governance and Biodiversity Targets 

38.) The White Paper and draft regulatory impact assessment consulted on in 
early 2024 provided initial estimated costings which covered the 
establishment of a new environmental governance body for Wales as well as 
the implications for imposing new statutory biodiversity targets on both the 
Welsh Ministers and wider public bodies. Reflecting the consultation outputs, 
more detailed costings are being developed for the Regulatory Impact 
Assessment that will support the introduction of the Bill in 2025. The costs for 
2025/26 are limited.  

Pack Page 28



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

13 

Environment 

Delivery of the Biodiversity Deep Dive. 

39.) We committed to bringing forward legislation to set biodiversity targets in 
Wales in law to drive our future action. Funding has been allocated to support 
the technical development of these targets.  

40.) The Biodiversity Deep Dive resulted in a range of recommendations aimed to 
drive forward collective actions we can take immediately to support 
meaningful delivery of the ‘30 by 30’ goal, as well as tackling the nature crisis. 
Funding will be allocated to support the delivery of the recommendations and 
actions. This includes continued investment in our Nature Networks and 
National Peatland Action Programmes, supporting pathfinder pilots exploring 
the opportunities for sustainable investment and an independent review of 
marine planning to support further spatial policies. 

Nature Recovery Action Plan 

41.) This investment will continue to directly contribute to the delivery of key 
priorities and actions identified in our Nature Recovery Action Plan (NRAP - 
https://gov.wales/nature-recovery-action-plan-2015) relating to the protection 
of our habitats and species of principal importance and the creation of resilient 
ecological networks. This plan is currently being refreshed to align with the 
targets and goals set out in the new Global Biodiversity Framework as well as 
defining actions required to deliver our proposed domestic statutory targets.  

42.) The National Sites Network will benefit from funding through the continued 
delivery of our Nature Networks Programme (NNP) in 2025/26 helping to 
deliver our 30 by 30 target. It is key to improving the condition and 
connectivity of our terrestrial and marine protected sites, creating resilient 
ecological networks which will allow our most endangered habitats and 
species to thrive. It will also help to deliver nature to wherever people live 
through engagement with local communities. This benefits not only our 
environment but also our health and well-being. Robust monitoring and 
evaluation will be an integral part of the Nature Networks Programme. 

43.) Legally binding biodiversity targets will be developed if the Environment 
(Governance, Principles and Biodiversity Targets) Bill is passed by the Senedd. A 
Regulatory Impact Assessment is currently in development to accompany the 

Pack Page 29



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

14 

Bill. This will provide initial estimated costings which will cover the new 
statutory targets. The full financial impact of these targets is not expected until 
after the Bill has been passed by the Senedd, which would likely mean FY 
2026-27. 

Nature Networks Programme 

44.) This allocation will allow continued delivery of the Nature Networks 
Programme, working with landowners, partners, stakeholders and encouraging 
community engagement to implement measures that address the nature 
emergency and make a real difference to the environment of Wales.  

Local Places for Nature 

45.) The Local Places for Nature (LPfN) programme continued its delivery success 
in year 2023/24 with some highlights summarised below.  A total programme 
expenditure of £15.3m was delivered last year.  

46.) Table 1 – Highlight Outputs for LPfN Programme 2020-2024. 

Highlight Output 
Totals 
2020/21 - 2023/24 

Green Spaces Created or significantly enhanced 4,076 

Wildlife meadows and verges with new mowing 
practices 

1,176 

Community orchards created 677 

Community growing projects 793 

Volunteers Involved 15,188 

Trees planted (urban, small dense woodland, verges, 
parkland)  

300 reportable 
hectares  

47.) All bar one of the Programme for Government targeted measures for ‘the 
creation of Green Spaces’ have been delivered by Local Places for Nature alone, 
with many being exceeded by the end of this year. This programme has 
increased community access and connection with nature.   Of particular 
biodiversity significance, the programme has funded all Wales changes to the 
mowing practices of public green spaces and verges.  This behaviour change is 
now becoming embedded as standard practice with this year being of 
significance in the public’s perceptions of nature focussed green urban spaces. 

Pack Page 30



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

15 

48.)I am confident that the budget allocated alongside additional funding provide 
through the Biodiversity budgets specifically supporting the Local Nature 
Partnership’s Biodiversity Duties will ensure the delivery capacity across the 
programme’s schemes is retained. 

 

49.) The reduction in the Local Places for Nature funding in 2026/25  (£300k of 
revenue funding and £7.3M capital funding) reflects the significance of 
pressures elsewhere, including for water quality and reservoir safety.   
Notwithstanding the need to make reductions in this area, the value of the 
programme has been recognised by providing a significant level of on-going 
investment in 2025/26,  retaining an allocation of £12 million capital and over 
£2.5 million revenue funding.  This level of funding will allow us to continue the 
positive work of the programme and support for the Local Nature Partnerships, 
with a particular focus on how this work can support a number of our 
Programme for Government commitments.  The flexible nature of the LPfN 
programme will also allow us to support additional delivery should additional 
funding become available over the course of the year. 

National Peatland Action Programme 

50.) The National Peatland Action Programme is currently in its fifth year of 
delivery. Set up by the Welsh Government in 2020, the National Peatland 
Action Programme is delivered by Natural Resources Wales. The initial five-year 
programme had a target of restoring 3,000 hectares of peatland by June 2025. 
The target has been exceeded 12 months early with a further 4,000ha 
benefiting from habitat management and maintenance. The restoration works 
have safeguarded more than 1.6 million tonnes of stored carbon, resulting in an 
estimated annual emissions reduction of 8,000 tonnes. 

51.) The funding maintains current restoration delivery of c.600ha p.a. contributing 
towards the peatland focused net zero and 30 by 30 targets.  

52.) The Peatlands of Wales Map and the Welsh Peatlands Portal will be updated 
to reflect the significant amount of peatland data gathered since the 
programme began. The Welsh Peatlands Portal will continue to be annually 
updated with all restoration and habitat management activity funded through 
the programme.  

Natur am Byth 

Pack Page 31



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

16 

53.) Funding is allocated to continue to provide the match funding required to 
deliver this four year NRW led project. The project, which is currently in its 
second year, aims to tackle the decline of the most threatened species in 
Wales working with a range of partners helping to address the nature 
emergency. 

Monitoring programmes for biodiversity. 

54.)  Effective and affordable monitoring and evidence is vital for tracking our 
progress towards both the 30 by 30 target and our longer-term nature positive 
ambition. 

55.) Various biodiversity monitoring programmes are undertaken with direct 
support from, or on behalf of, the Welsh Government , allowing the reporting of 
the status of biodiversity in Wales e.g. through the Natural Resources Wales  
produced State of Natural Resources Report (SoNaRR) due to report in 
December 2026. Key components of our existing biodiversity monitoring 
framework include Environment and Rural Affairs Monitoring and Modelling 
Programme (ERAMMP), the Living Wales Earth Observation system, the 
monitoring of key indicator species through JNCC/citizen science-led 
surveillance programmes, and the Common Standards Monitoring provided by 
NRW for protected sites. 

56.) In relation to the 30 by 30 target, the Monitoring and Evidence expert group 
have produced a comprehensive report recommending a high-level 
monitoring and evidence framework. The focus of our next steps will be the 
collation and consolidation of monitoring effort and resources in Wales to 
ensure data are efficiently captured, processed, and analysed against the 
framework the Monitoring and Evidence group have produced. As part of this 
an evaluation of the functions of the Local Environment Record Centres will be 
undertaken along with an evaluation of the Nature Networks Programme. 

Support for green skills including Nature Service Wales. 

57.) Stimulating green jobs which deliver economic growth and tackle the 
climate crisis and restore nature is a priority for Cabinet as a whole.    

58.) The Net Zero Skills Action Plan was published in February 2023 and the 
summary of responses to the consultation on sector roadmaps in June 2024.   

59.) We are also looking for opportunities to stimulate skills development and 
training pathways through our investment, for example as we substantially 

Pack Page 32



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

17 

step up investment in coal tip safety and start to plan for a new, supervisory 
body to be established.  

60.) The National Nature Service (NNS) is being led by third sector partners and 
has made a successful funding bid to the Esmée Fairbairn Foundation and 
subsequent appointment of an officer based in the Farming Commission to 
take forward work.  This should enable further development of an operating 
model, governance structures and funding model. 

Developing an approach for private investment for nature. 

61.)Welsh Government is developing a new approach to sustainable finance for 
nature’s recovery. This approach is intended to increase and diversify the 
funding available so that we can effectively tackle the nature emergency and 
the pressures that drive biodiversity loss – including climate change, pollution, 
and unsustainable management of natural resources. 

62.) Markets for nature and the environmental services nature provides, have the 
potential to harness the capabilities and resources of the private sector to 
efficiently deploy capital and encourage the innovation needed. But 
environmental markets must be well-designed and governed to prevent 
‘greenwash’ and ensure they are high integrity, deliver real environmental 
improvement and both engage and benefit local communities. 

63.) On 10 September 2024 a consultation on Sustainable Investment Principles 
was launched. These principles were co-developed with key stakeholders and 
focus on high integrity.  The responses to the consultation will help shape the 
next steps in scaling up delivery for nature recovery which will require 
significantly increased level of funding. 

Biosecurity, including Avian flu. 

64.) We continue to manage existing plant pests and diseases and work to 
mitigate new risks including at the UK border for Welsh ports.  The resource for 
this work has increased to reflect the policy and regulatory work devolved to 
Wales for biosecurity, including tackling invasive species and pesticide and 
biocide regulation. 

65.) We have strengthened our capacity to address wild animal health issues 
where they affect species of biodiversity significance following the outbreaks of 
High Pathogenic Avian Influenza in seabirds. This will enable Welsh 

Pack Page 33



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

18 

Government to develop a more strategic approach to wild animal diseases as 
well as strengthen our overall One Health approach. 

Support for the delivery of the circular economy strategy, 
Beyond Recycling, including the development and delivery of 
Extended Producer Responsibility and a Deposit Return 
Scheme for Wales 

66.) The funding will continue the implementation of the circular economy 
strategy, which has already seen Wales further improve its recycling and climb 
to second in the World. This includes the Circular Economy Fund supporting 
our Local Authorities to decarbonise services, roll out reuse and repair facilities 
and improve recycling, which in turn provides high quality materials back into 
the economy unlocking further opportunities for green jobs and growth  . The 
Circular Economy Fund also provides funding to support businesses to adapt 
their processes to for example use recycled material, providing the opportunity 
for businesses improve resource efficiency, resilience and competitiveness in a 
decarbonising economy It also includes the implementation of the Extended 
Producer Responsibility scheme for packaging and development of the 
Deposit Return Scheme for Wales. The funding will also enable the 
continuation of work by our delivery partners to support Local Authorities to 
improve their services, tackle waste crime and build the capacity needed to 
regulate key reforms and continue progress in areas like food waste reduction. 

Managing Marine Protected Areas (MPAs), including an 
update and delivery of the MPA network management 
framework and action plan. 

67.) Budget will be allocated for funding of successful projects that are awarded 
during the proposed call for actions, delivering on the priorities and objectives 
laid out in the MPA network management framework for Wales.  Allocations 
are expected to match awards from previous years and sourced from the 
Marine Ecosystems and Biodiversity budgets when finalised. Furthermore, 
budget is expected to be allocated for actions arising from the publication of 
the Seabird Conservation Strategy for Wales next year. 

Assessment and identification of gaps within the MPA 
network, including improvements to the evidence base to 

Pack Page 34



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

19 

inform the designation of further Marine Conservation Zones 
(MCZs) in Welsh waters. 

68.) Welsh Government is committed to its MPA network completion 
programme; the proposed Marine Conservation Zone designations are a 
significant element of this. 

69.)  Officials are working with Statutory Nature Conservation Bodies to develop 
the underpinning evidence base to inform designation of proposed sites. As 
part of this process, it is critical that the proposed sites are rigorously assessed 
for their potential socio-economic impacts through a Regulatory Impact 
Assessment (RIA).  

70.) Welsh Government have experienced delays in progressing this assessment, 
however a contractor has now been appointed and budget allocated to 
undertake this work.  Development of the RIA will commence in January 2025. 

Funding for the delivery of a targeted scheme to support 
restoration of seagrass and saltmarsh habitats along Wales’ 
coastline. 

71.) Welsh Government are committed to supporting habitat restoration of 
seagrass and saltmarsh recognising the benefits they have for biodiversity, 
water quality and carbon sequestration.  

72.) We have committed to support the National Seagrass Action Plan (NSAP) 
and have allocated budget through our Marine Protected Area Grant Scheme 
to support identifying evidence gaps which will enable us to continue to 
support regeneration along the Welsh coastline.  

73.) Through the Nature Networks Programme Welsh Government is funding a 
number of projects to support successful saltmarsh regeneration across Wales. 

Improving water quality, including support for the Better 
River Water Quality taskforce to take forward actions arising 
from the Stantec report.  

74.) Water quality is under pressure from various threats. The main causes of 
failure under the Water Framework Directive (WFD) in Wales are attributed to 
the agriculture sector, mining and quarrying (including pollution from 

Pack Page 35



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

20 

abandoned metal mines), the transport sector, urban pollution and water 
industry discharges. It is necessary that an integrated cross-sectoral approach is 
developed and implemented across Wales to ensure long term water quality 
improvement. Recognising these pressures, in 2024-2025 we provided NRW 
with £15 million capital grant funding to improve compliance with Water 
Environment (Water Framework Directive) (England and Wales) Regulations 
2017 and related legislation which will deliver water quality improvements. This 
work covers high profile schemes including the metal mine remediation 
programme, comprising blow out prevention, water treatment schemes and 
diverting watercourses.  This programme will receive a £3m uplift in the 
coming financial year, allowing additional schemes to progress for example 
additional metal mine remediation projects.   

75.) One of our Programme for Government commitments is to begin 
designating inland bathing waters sites, following the successes of our coastal 
bathing waters. We have continued to boost capacity in Natural Resources 
Wales by maintaining funding for a dedicated specialist water quality advice.  

76.) To date we have provided approximately £2m funding to our Nutrient 
Management Boards to support the delivery of priority actions in failing Special 
Area of Conservation (SAC) river catchments. This work forms part of the 
broader work on making improvements to Special Area of Conservation (SAC) 
rivers where we have been engaging all sectors to address  pollution in failing 
SAC rivers in Wales. There have been a number of ministerial-led Summits 
discussing the issues and agreeing action. We are agreeing a way forward with 
the work as we transition into ensuring effective delivery of strategies on the 
ground.   

Implementation of the National Strategy for Flood and 
Coastal Erosion Risk Management, including the take up of 
the Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Grant and 
Natural Flood Risk Management Fund. 

77.) The National Strategy for Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management sets 
out how we will manage risk from flooding and coastal erosion over the next 
decade with the objectives to prioritise investment, improve our understanding 
of risk, build resilience, prevent more people becoming exposed to risk and 
respond to events.  We are maintaining record levels of investment in flood risk 
management. 

Pack Page 36



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

21 

78.) This year the Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management programme has 
funded major NRW schemes at Stephenson Street, Newport and Ammanford. 
The programme is also funding over 200 local authority led schemes 
throughout Wales, with over £12m invested in local authority construction 
schemes. Looking ahead to 2025/26, we also have a healthy pipeline of 
schemes for future years, with over £70m worth of future capital schemes 
already in development, with many due to commence construction next year. 

79.) Our Coastal Risk Management Programme (CRMP has been awarded for the 
15 schemes in scope. Construction has now commenced on all outstanding 
schemes and will continue in 2025/26. The programme will invest over £200m 
in key coastal infrastructure and reduce the risk from flooding and/or coastal 
erosion to over 15,200 homes and businesses.   

80.) Since 2020 we have provided funding through a Natural Flood Management  
Pilot, funded through the flood budget and a NFM Accelerator which was 
funded through the Rural Investment Scheme. Building on the great work 
which has been implemented by Risk Management Authorities (RMA) we have 
allocated £2m for 2025/26 through the flood budget. This will support RMAs to 
build upon existing schemes and continue learning on how natural flood 
management can not only benefit flooding alleviation, but deliver multiple 
benefits for water quality and for nature.   

Support for the Interim Environmental Protection Assessor 
for Wales and the development of more permanent 
environmental governance arrangements. 

81.)I am committed to working towards the establishment of an environmental 
governance body for Wales and have allocated additional funding to support 
this.  

82.) The Interim Environmental Protection Assessor for Wales’ (IEAPW) budget of 
£120,000 has increased to £165,000 following the appointment of two Deputy 
Interim Assessor’s and forms part of the wider budget for environmental 
governance.  

National Parks 

83.) The draft budget includes an increase in core funding for each of the three 
National Park Authorities in Wales. The Welsh Government provides statutory 

Pack Page 37



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

22 

core funding to each National Park Authority and also discretionary support to 
our National Landscapes.   

84.) A specific budget allocation in 2025/26 will continue the delivery of the 
Programme for Government commitment to designate a new National Park in 
North East Wales.  

85.) Designating a National Park is a significant undertaking and the majority of 
this funding enables Natural Resources Wales, our statutory advisors in this 
area, to undertake the necessary preparatory work. Natural Resources Wales’ 
programme includes detailed assessment, collection and analysis of evidence 
for a new designation, as well as engagement and consultation. This funding 
ensures Natural Resources Wales can deliver the designation work on as 
effectively and robustly as possible, with the necessary expertise and capacity.  

86.) The funding also provides additional revenue to the Clwydian Range and Dee 
Valley National Landscape to build capacity and resilience while the 
designation work is taken forward, as well as providing resources for Welsh 
Government to undertake its own assessments in relation to the designation 
process now the programme is at a more advanced stage.  

Pack Page 38



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

23 

Climate Change 

Delivery of the policies and proposals in the Net Zero Wales 
plan which are relevant to the remit of this committee.  

87.) Decarbonisation action across the eight main emissions sectors are covered 
by 123 policies and proposals in the Net Zero Wales plan.  Most relevant to this 
committee are actions taken by energy, transport, and the public sector to 
decarbonise.  Delivery of these actions in Energy and Transport is led by other 
Cabinet Secretaries and is not reflected in my budget.  

88.) We continue to support decarbonisation action in the public sector, in line 
with our ambition for the public sector to be collectively net zero by 2030. In 
2025/26 we will again invest over £21m in loans and grants for continued 
investment in energy efficiency and renewable energy within the public sector 
in Wales. These projects help achieve cost savings as well as carbon reductions. 

The impact of proposed UK Government policies on Welsh 
Government efforts to support net zero.  

89.) We continue to work closely with governments across the UK to collaborate 
towards our common goal of net zero by 2050.  Over half of Welsh emissions 
emanate from sectors for which policies are largely reserved to the UK 
Government.  We welcome the UK Government’s Clean Energy Mission as it 
seeks to accelerate the UK’s progress towards clean sources of power by the 
end of the decade.  This has a material impact on Wales’s ability to reduce its 
emissions given the interconnected nature of the energy network in the UK.  
We are working closely with UK Government to dovetail action to accelerate 
delivery of renewable energy. 

Climate adaptation action, and detail of specific allocations 
to support delivery of the new climate adaptation strategy. 

90.) Budget is allocated to deliver the Climate Adaptation Strategy for Wales 
2024. In 2025/26 this will focus on developing an adaptation monitoring 
framework, engaging with the wider public sector on delivery and reporting of 
adaptation measures, and Wales’s contribution to the Climate Change 
Committee’s Adaptation Committee.  Specific funding for actions contained in 

Pack Page 39



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

24 

the adaptation strategy are detailed under the relevant policy area, where 
pertaining to the remit of this Committee. 

Implementation of the Woodlands for Wales Strategy and 
recommendations of the 2021 Trees and Timber Deep Dive, 
including delivering the National Forest and increasing the 
rate of tree-planting. 

91.)The budget will fund the further expansion of the National Forest for Wales 
including through ongoing support for sites looking to join the Status Scheme, 
as well as new approaches to delivery at a landscape scale.  With the Timber 
Industrial Strategy due to be published next financial year, funding will be used 
to invest in the sector including through proposed capital investment and skills 
provision.  It will also be used to support interventions to help increase our tree 
planting rates to deliver on our net zero ambitions. 

Pack Page 40



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

25 

 Natural Resources Wales 

BEL 
 No. 

BEL Description 
2025-26 
 Revised 
Baseline 

Additional 
Recurrent 

Funding since  
Revised 
Baseline 

£000 

2025-26 
 Draft Budget 

 December 2024 
£000 

2451 Natural Resources Wales RDEL 124,339  19,065  143,404  

2451 Natural Resources Wales - Non cash 10,000    10,000  

2454 
Natural Resources Wales - Timber 
Income 

-33,080    -33,080  

2455 Windfarm Income via NRW -10,000    -10,000  

Total Sponsor and Manage Delivery Bodies 91,259  19,065  110,324  

     

2451 Natural Resources Wales CDEL 25,106  2,700  27,806  

Total Sponsor and Manage Delivery Bodies 25,106  2,700  27,806 

 

92.) In July - September, Natural Resources Wales undertook a formal 
consultation with its recognised Trade Unions and engaged with its staff in 
relations to its proposed ‘Case for Change’ to deliver savings. Through this 
process, Natural Resources Wales have identified some activities / services that 
will be delivered differently or reduced to support a reshaping of the 
organisation. 

93.) The case for change identified areas for investment where Natural Resources 
Wales wanted to build capacity and capability to enable delivery against its 
Corporate Plan priorities.  The budget uplift will enable that investment to take 
place. 

Details of any new functions, duties, or responsibilities Natural 
Resources Wales will take on during the budget period and 
the funding that has been allocated for those purposes. 

94.) Natural Resources Wales will have new functions in relation to Extended 
Producer Responsibility.  Funding has been provided for within the allocations 
to BEL 2190.   Detailed work is being undertaken to confirm the activity and 

Pack Page 41



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

26 

related costs to support Natural Resources Wales’ role within the Sustainable 
Farming Scheme. 

95.)  Discussion between NRW and HMRC to arrive at a final settlement continue 
in relation to IR35.   

Pack Page 42



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

27 

6. Annex A – Allocations by Spending 
Programme Area, Action and Budget 
Expenditure Line (BEL) 

96.) This section will provide a breakdown of the allocations by Spending 
Programme Area, Action and Budget Expenditure Line (BEL). 

Environment Quality and Marine 
 

Marine 
 

BEL description 
Resource Budget 

£’000 
Capital Budget             

£’000 

2875 - Marine 2,361 - 

Proposed BEL activity 

Additional allocation of £0.7m in 25/26. 

Welsh Government’s ambition for the marine environment is that Welsh seas are ‘clean, 
healthy, safe, productive and biologically diverse’. The budget will be used to deliver the 
Deputy First Minister’s marine priorities to help meet this ambition, including the specific 
Programme for Government commitment on coastal restoration. 
 
Work will focus on marine planning and licensing, biodiversity, and climate change policy 
development. We will continue to enhance ecosystem resilience through Marine 
Protected Area network designation and targeted recovery interventions whilst 
maintaining our commitments to meeting Good Environmental Status. We will be 
responsive to developing evidence around blue carbon habitats and their global 
importance as part of our future marine decision-making processes, and contribution to 
achieving Net Zero. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 43



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

28 

 
Water and Flood  

 

BEL description 
Resource Budget 

£’000 
Capital Budget 

£’000 

BEL 2230 - Flood and Water 2,981 30,021 

Purpose of BEL 

Proposed Revenue Programme 

The FCERM Resource Budget largely funds Wales’ Risk Management Authorities in 
undertaking activities such as asset maintenance, awareness raising work, flood 
investigation (Section 19 reports) mapping, warning, and informing and staff costs. 

Water Revenue Programme  

This is used to deliver statutory and regulatory functions in respect of water and sewage, 
including working with stakeholders on the statutory 2024 price review which sets water 
bills and charges and water company investment for 2025 – 2030.  It also funds support 
for delivering Programme for Government commitments to strengthen the requirements 
for the use of sustainable drainage systems that provide wildlife habitat and begin to 
designate Wales’ inland waters for recreation, strengthening water quality monitoring. 

Flood Capital Programme 

Capital funding is not only used to build new flood and coastal risk management 
schemes but also to fund preparatory business case and design work ahead of 
construction.  NRW are funded through the NRW BEL. 

Water Capital Programme  

The Water Environment (Water Framework Directive) (England and Wales) Regulations 
2017 aim to reduce pollution and improve the condition of aquatic ecosystems, promote 
the sustainable use of water and reduce the effects of floods and droughts.     

Natural Resources Wales has prepared a flexible multi-year programme of work designed 
to decrease the number of watercourses failing to meet good ecological status.  We 
propose to provide Natural Resources Wales with the necessary funding to undertake 
work prioritised using the following agreed criteria: 

• Delivers improvements to water quality and/or improvements in 
resilience to water quality pressures; 

• Has clear, measurable capital outputs (delivers/will deliver on the 
ground actions); 

• High confidence of delivery within the financial year; 

• WFD status of waterbody and/or failing against a SAC condition 
attribute; and 

• Value for money for the taxpayer. 

97.)This programme of work includes remediation work for abandoned metal 
mines to help prevent discharges of hazardous pollution into waterways, and a 

Pack Page 44



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

29 

range of capital work to address the key factors causing water quality failures 
Natural Resources Wales will prioritise the work according to where it has the 
most impact and where it can be completed within this financial year.  

 
Coal Tip & Reservoir Safety & Delivery 
 

BEL description 
Resource Budget 

£’000 
Capital Budget 

£’000 

BEL 2232 - Coal Tip & Reservoir Safety & Delivery 5,836 38,217 

Purpose of BEL 

Coal Tips Safety 

The BEL is for the Coal Tip Safety Grant Scheme for local authorities to carry out works on 
tips, which has been identified in inspections reports or where a slip has occurred. In 
addition, we are committed to the final phase of remediation of the Tylorstown coal tip 
and work on reservoirs. 
 
The grant scheme makes funding available to Local Authorities and Natural Resources 
Wales to complete maintenance activities on both publicly and privately owned coal tips 
to ensure that these remain in a condition whereby the threat of a slip is controlled and 
minimised. High profile examples of where previous budget have been used include 
Tylorstown remediation works, and Dyffryn Rhondda.   

Secondly, the budget recognises the implementation costs arising from the Disused 
Mine and Quarry Tips (Wales) Bill which is being introduced in December 2024. Budget 
allocations have been made in relation to the costs of setting up a new body, as also 
outlined in the RIA. Funding has also been included for the continuation of the Coal 
Authority works regarding the inspection regime.  

Reservoir Safety 

Reservoir safety is also of critical importance given the risks if they are not maintained 
and the future forecast for changes to the climate in Wales. This has been reflected in the 
budget allocations with £4.9m being made available for reservoir safety. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Land Nature Forestry  

Pack Page 45



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

30 

 
Biodiversity, Evidence and Peatlands  
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Plant Health and Environmental Protection 
  

BEL description 
Resource Budget 

£’000 
Capital Budget 

£’000 

BEL 2825 - Biodiversity, Evidence and 
Peatlands 

11,520 12,500 

BEL 2814 - Environment Management 
(Pwllperian) (Non-Cash) 

38 - 

Purpose of BEL 

Biodiversity delivery is focussed on actions to tackle the nature emergency and deliver 
PfG commitments including: 

• Nature Networks Programme – improving the condition and 
connectivity of our protected sites network (enhance green 
spaces).  

• Local Nature Partnerships – promoting coordination of locally 
driven action. 

• Developing legally binding targets and appropriate reporting 
and monitoring mechanisms through a year four Bill.  

• Embedding biodiversity in decision making through the 
biodiversity taskforce and section 6 duty. 

• Species recovery including pollinators and bee health 
 
The BEL also funds the following; 
 

• National Peatland Action Programme  

 
The National Peatland Action Programme provides national, coordinated leadership 
through Natural Resources Wales for sustained peatland restoration. The aim is to 
restore functioning ecosystems which in turn safeguards and sequesters carbon.   

Pack Page 46



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

31 

 
Local Places for Nature 
 

BEL description 
Resource 

Budget £’000 
Capital 

Budget £’000 

BEL 2802 – Plant and Wildlife Protection and 
Regulation 

1,407 0 

Purpose of BEL 

Additional allocation of £0.5m in 25/26. 
 
This BEL supports work to maintain Wales Biosecurity for plants, development of 
policy for new genetic technologies and regulate GMOs.   This includes all policy 
development and any costs associated with outbreak response where not covered by 
our agreements with Defra, NRW, the Forestry Commission and APHA. Most of these 
are funded by agreement with Defra.  The BEL also supports policy work on rural and 
wildlife crime including regulations around hunting, snares, glue traps, managing wild 
pigs, licensing/regulating any disturbance or interference with badgers and their setts 
including TB testing of badgers.  Funds the wildlife and rural crime officer. Part funds 
the Wildlife Incident Investigation Scheme in Wales investigating suspected poisoning 
of wildlife, companion animals and beneficial insects part funded by a pesticide levy.  
The BEL also funds limited eradication of invasive alien species and policy work on 
invasives.  It funds policy work on Plant Varieties and Seeds, including maintaining the 
national lists of seeds and plant varieties, including any tribunal costs falling to Wales.  
The BEL supports regulation of Agriculture EIA.  The BEL also covers policy work on 
pesticide and biocide regulation where the operational work is funded via Defra and 
the Health and Safety Executive policy is devolved but budgets are not. 
 

BEL description 
Resource Budget 

£’000 
Capital Budget 

£’000 

BEL 2820 - Local Places for Nature 2,650 12,564 

Purpose of BEL 

 
Local Places for Nature 

Local Places for Nature (LPfN) intends to help communities create nature on their 
doorsteps. The programme is aimed at communities and community organisations to 
restore and enhance nature in their local areas, particularly in areas of deprivation and 
communities with little or no access to nature.  The programme began in 2020 and 
delivers the current Programme for Government commitment, “Expand arrangements 
to create or significantly enhance green spaces”. 
 

1. Capital funding is delegated to three Scheme Managers, Wales Council for 
Voluntary Action (WCVA), Keep Wales Tidy (KWT) & National Lottery Heritage Fund 
(NLHF) who work collaboratively, running individual schemes;  

1) WCVA - 25 Local Nature Partnerships, led by Local Authorities and 
National Parks deliver projects locally.  

Pack Page 47



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

32 

 
Forestry  
 

BEL description 
Resource Budget 

£’000 
Capital Budget 

£’000 

BEL 2827 - Forestry 6,436 9,310 

BEL 2827 - Forestry (Non-Cash) 83 - 

Purpose of BEL 

National Forest  

Allocated to funding National Forest Woodland Liaison Officers, funding the creation 
and enhancement of woodlands which meet National Forest standards and creating 
the covid 19 commemorative woodlands. 

Cross-border Memorandum of Understanding (MoU)  

Allocated to cover areas where cross-border collaboration is beneficial: tree health, the 
Woodland Carbon Code, forestry research, forestry economics and the UK Forestry 
Standard. Wales contributes 10% of total funding to the MOU, with 90% funding split 
between Scotland and England.  

Forestry policy  

Allocated to work to increase woodland creation and to meet ongoing forestry policy 
costs. 
 
Timber industrial strategy  

Allocated to funding the Home-Grown Homes project and the creation of the strategy. 

Natural Resources Wales funding  

Allocated to funding Natural Resources Wales to verify that woodland creation plans 
meet the UK Forestry Standard. 

Woodland Restoration  

Allocated to restoring woodlands affected by tree disease. 

Forest Research Memorandum of Understanding  

Forest Research is the research agency of the Forestry Commission. Through our 
service agreement we fund them to map woodland in Wales, provide monitoring and 
surveillance of tree health and identify tree diseases and research key issues in forest 
management.  

 
Non-cash totals 83k. 

98.)An open access competitive capital grant scheme run by NLHF, via an 
Memorandum of Understanding with Department for Culture, Media and 
Sport 

99.). KWT - Community Packages to create pollinator and community growing 
gardens including on manmade structures. 

Pack Page 48



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

33 

 
Designated Landscapes & Countryside Access 
 

BEL description 
Resource Budget 

£’000 
Capital Budget 

£’000 

BEL 2490 – Designated Landscapes & 
Countryside Access 

13,051 8,900 

Purpose of BEL 

Provide core funding to the three National Park Authorities.  

Fund any public appointments to National Park Authorities. 

Our Designated Landscapes (National Parks (20 per cent) and Areas of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty (5per cent) play a crucial role in protecting some of our most precious 
and beautiful areas and cover 25 per cent of Wales’ land area. They are also key drivers 
for a number of Welsh Government priorities. These include tourism, biodiversity, 
decarbonisation, health and wellbeing, sustainable communities, and the Welsh 
Language. The National Park Authority strategic grant ensures that the management of 
these landscapes is resilient and can realise these ambitions. 

In addition to funding for National Park Authorities, the draft budget included funding 
for a number of related areas, including: 

Provide the Welsh Governments’s contribution to the maintenance and promotion of 
the Wales Coast Path.  

Provide the Sustainable Development Fund for Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONBs).  

Fund a number of programmes, services and interventions to deliver WG and First 
Minister priorities around access and recreation, green spaces and allotments.  

Fund a number of Welsh Government responsibilities such as any court cases relating to 
access. 

Fund workstreams looking at a new National Park in North East Wales, including for 
Natural Resources Wales, our statutory advisors in this area. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Landfill Disposal Tax Communities Scheme (LDTCS)  

 

 BEL description 
Resource Budget 

£’000 
Capital Budget 

£’000 

Pack Page 49



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

34 

BEL 2195 - Landfill Disposal Tax Communities 
Scheme (LDTCS) 

500 - 

Purpose of BEL 

In April 2018, the collection of landfill tax was devolved to Wales, as set out in the 
Landfill Disposals Tax (Wales) Act 2017. Section 92 of the Act places a duty on the Welsh 
Ministers to prepare and publish a Landfill Disposals Tax Communities Scheme, which 
will make provision for grant funding for the benefit of communities affected by landfill 
disposals or activities at waste transfer stations. The budget for 2025/26 is maintain at 
2024/25 levels. 

 
Resource Efficiency and Circular Economy 
 

BEL description 
Resource Budget 

£’000 
Capital Budget 

£’000 

BEL 2190 - Resource Efficiency & Circular 
Economy 

35,800 41,853 

Purpose of BEL 

 
Funding of Delivery Partners  
Delivery of the work on a circular economy is heavily dependent on the external 
support provided by various Delivery Bodies, which provide both crucial expertise and 
capacity to deliver against the breadth of the commitments. Significant work has been 
undertaken with WRAP and Local Partnerships to align resource to the Programme for 
Government priorities, including the Extended Producer Responsibility Programme and 
Circular Economy Infrastructure Programme - with the bolstering of Programme and 
Project Management arrangements to the former and support to Local Authorities to 
produce robust business cases for infrastructure investment.  
 
In addition, the budget supports delivery partners such as Repair Café Wales to roll-out 
repair cafes across Wales and Fareshare to arrange the redistribution of food that would 
otherwise be wasted from the food and drink industry to communities in need across 
Wales. 
 
This also includes funding to Natural Resources Wales to support the implementation 
of workplace recycling reforms, EPR and DRS with the provision of detailed technical 
and enforcement advice and as the regulator for the circular economy in Wales.  
Natural Resources Wales are also the lead authority for waste crime and waste tracking 
and have a key role in decarbonisations work to address emissions from legacy landfill. 
 
Sustainable Waste Management Grant 
Funding to help Local Authorities to design, develop and execute strategic 
improvements in their approach to the Circular Economy, move up the waste hierarchy 
and preparing for Extending Producer Responsibility. 
 
Recycling Targeted Improvement  & Strategic Planning 

Pack Page 50



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

35 

Funding for the continued improvement in terms of the performance and efficiency of 
recycling collection and wider services, including repair and reuse. Focusing in 
particular, on utilising the evidence to take action to improve Wales’ recycling rates to 
meet the 70 per cent target fand prepare for the implementation of Extended 
Producer Responsibility payments on the basis of service efficiency and effectiveness.  
 
EPR, DRS & Workplace Recycling 
This funding is allocated against the delivery of the Welsh Government’s commitments 
to deliver EPR, DRS and Workplace Recycling Reforms. These commitments represent 
economy wide reforms with significant carbon savings as well as being crucial to further 
progress on recycling in moving up the waste hierarchy. 
 
Circular Economy Fund for Business 
The funding delivers on the key commitment within Beyond Recycling and Net Zero 
Wales to support businesses to adapt their processes to become more circular, for 
example in using recycled content in manufacturing or moving to more sustainable 
materials and follows on from the successful pilot delivered over the last three years.    
 
Circular Economy Fund for the Public Sector  
This capital funding, is primarily targeted at Local Authorities, to address core Circular 
Economy actions and develop a pipeline of circular economy infrastructure projects 
being developed collaboratively with Local Authorities. This includes improvements in 
recycling performance, increasing repair & reuse activity, enhancing climate resilience 
and decarbonising waste & recycling operations in line with the 2030 target. 
 
Funding is also allocated to support Local Authorities to continue the transition of their 
fleet to Ultra-Low Emission collection Vehicles for recycling and residual waste. 
 
Programme Staff  
Programme funded staff that are crucial to the delivery  of the Welsh Government’s 
Circular Economy strategy and overarching Programme for Government and Net Zero 
Wales commitments. 
 

 
 

 
 
 
Natural Resources Wales (NRW) Sponsorship & 
Environment Protection 
 

Natural Resources Wales 
 

BEL description 
Resource Budget 

£’000 
Capital Budget 

£’000 

Pack Page 51



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

36 

BEL 2451 - Natural Resources Wales 
143,404 

10,000 non-Cash 27,806 

BEL 2454 - NRW – Timber Income -33,080  

BEL 2455 – Windfarm Income -10,000  

Purpose of BEL 

1. This BEL provides Grant in Aid to Natural Resources Wales for its primary operational 
and regulatory responsibilities. Natural Resources Wales is the principal environmental 
adviser and regulator to Welsh Government and help to deliver a wide range of 
ministerial priorities and commitments, in delivering action to address the climate and 
nature emergencies.  

Capital funding is also provided to Natural Resources Wales to support their 
core capital funded activities which include scheme development work 
(including business case development), mapping and modelling projects, staff 
costs, ICT for flood projects, car fleet/plant hire and capital maintenance. This 
budget includes flood risk funding.  
 
Non-cash totals £10m 

 

Environment Protection 

 

Environment Legislation & Governance 
 

BEL description 
Resource Budget 

£’000 
Capital Budget             

£’000 

BEL description 
Resource Budget 

£’000 
Capital Budget 

£’000 

BEL 2817 – Environment Protection (was 
Radioactivity and Pollution Prevention)  

6,722 2,686 

Purpose of BEL 

This BEL supports the policy and legislative work in respect of air quality, chemicals, 
environmental noise, industrial pollution, and radioactivity/radioactive waste.  This 
includes implementing associated legislation as necessary to deliver those policy 
measures.  It also covers the management of infraction cases, including some legal costs, 
associated with industrial pollution and air quality.   

Pack Page 52



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

37 

2812 - Environment Legislation and 
Implementation, Governance and 
Communications 

1,977 - 

Proposed BEL activity 

The BEL provides budgetary cover for legislation, governance and legal costs affecting 
MEG environmental and related programmes and includes the programme staffing 
costs for a solicitor. 

The BEL also support the Ministerial commitment to further the sustainable 
management of natural resources and the implementation of the Environment Act 
through a number of delivery schemes. It supports the staff posts required to run and 
manage these schemes and grant programmes. It also helps to support the 
international Eco-Schools programme across Wales, the Ministerial commitment to the 
tree planting and climate change educational programme delivered by charity Size of 
Wales. 

It also provides for preparatory work for the new Environmental Governance Body. 

This budget also supports work to embed the Environment (Wales) Act 2017 and the 
Natural Resource Policy. 

 

Climate Change 
 

Welsh Government Energy Service 
 

BEL description 
Revenue Budget 

£000 
Capital Budget 

£000 

BEL 2809 – Welsh Government Energy Service 
(WGES) 

4,170 22,000 

Purpose of BEL 

BEL 2809 Welsh Government Energy Service - This investment is to support public bodies 
to undertake energy efficiency, and renewable energy projects. It also supports 
communities to develop renewable energy projects. reduce their energy costs and invest 
in renewable energy sources and the Smart Living initiative which stimulates placed-
based pre-market decarbonisation innovation (including whole systems and hydrogen). 

This budget also covers implementation of the net zero public sector route map, 
publication of the Welsh public sector carbon emissions annual report and guide.  

Additional FTC capital funding of £10.0m is also included above. 

 
Climate Change Action  
 

Pack Page 53



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

38 

BEL description 
Revenue 

Budget £000 
Capital 

Budget £000 

BEL 3771 – Climate Change Action 3,796             - 

Purpose of BEL 

Climate Adaptation  
 
100.)Undertake an engagement and review exercise to understand the current 

state of climate risk preparedness across the public sector and identify any 
constraints to adaptation planning. 
• Support the development and administration of the pilot exemplar grant 

scheme to support the public sector’s local climate adaptation measures. 
 
Decarbonisation Programme  
 
Funding to develop the next iteration of the Net Zero Wales Delivery Plan which will 
detail how we intend to meet emission reduction targets and our Carbon Budget.  This 
includes evidence and analysis to develop decarbonisation pathways; policy 
development and implementation including for a Just Transition Framework; and 
Wales’ contribution to fund the Climate Change Committee which provides advice to 
WG on both adaptation and mitigation. The budget also covers staff costs, 
development, training and T&S. 
 
Decarbonisation Innovation / Smart Living  
 
Includes technical and analytical support for development of innovative and whole 
systems solutions to place-based issues. The funding will be focussed at multi-energy 
vector and multi-sector infrastructure and technology, processes and systems 
approaches involving public, private and academic key stakeholders. 
101.) 
Emissions Trading Scheme and Carbon Pricing 
 
Funding to implement the Welsh Government’s obligations as part of the UK ETS 
Authority.  These include costs for maintaining and developing the IT system, research 
and translation. The budget also covers staff costs associated with further enhancing 
and improving the UK ETS.  Should funding allow, early research will be commissioned 
to understand in which sectors a carbon pricing signal may be helpful in meeting our 
long-term carbon reduction targets. 
102.) 
Climate-led Behavioural Change Programme  
 
Funding to deliver the commitments made in the Climate Public Engagement 
Strategy, including engagement (through Wales Climate Week and Climate 
Conversations workshops) with stakeholders and the general public to involve them in 
shaping the right policy solutions, social research to build our understanding around 
the barriers people face and motivations around making green choices, and on-going 
national communications (digital focus), and enhancements to the 
climateaction.gov.wales digital hub to encourage action on climate change 
 

Pack Page 54



Welsh Government evidence paper on 25-25 Draft Budget for the Senedd Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

 

39 

International Climate Action 
 
Membership of groups representing sub-national states and regions, including the 
Under2 Coalition, enabling Wales to have its voice heard on the international stage, 
including at COP. 

 

Pack Page 55



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 59

Agenda Item 3By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



Welsh Government evidence paper on the Transport MEG Draft Budget Proposals for 2025-26 

Climate Change & Economic Infrastructure Committee 

1 

 

 
 

Welsh Government 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Memorandum on the  

Transport MEG Draft Budget 

Proposals for 2025-26  

Climate Change & Economic 

Infrastructure Committee 

08/01/2025 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This paper provides information on the Transport budget proposals as outlined in the 

2025-26 Draft Budget published on 10th December 2024. It also provides an update on 

specific areas of interest to the Committee. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

www.gov.wales Pack Page 79

http://www.gov.wales/


Welsh Government evidence paper on the Transport MEG Draft Budget Proposals for 2025-26 

Climate Change & Economic Infrastructure Committee 

2 

 

 

 
 

Contents 

Strategic Context .........................................................................................3 

Resource .........................................................................................................4 

Capital .............................................................................................................. 6 

Cross cutting themes ..................................................................................7 

Legislation ......................................................................................................9 

Climate Change .......................................................................................... 10 

Transport.......................................................................................................... 11 

1 Strategic Road Network ......................................................................................................... 11 

2 Transport Strategy & Policy .................................................................................................... 12 

3 Public Transport ....................................................................................................................... 16 

4 National & International Connectivity ................................................................................. 18 

5 Armed Forces............................................................................................................................ 18 

Pack Page 80



Welsh Government evidence paper on the Transport MEG Draft Budget Proposals for 2025-26 

Climate Change & Economic Infrastructure Committee 

3 

 

 

 

 
 

Strategic Context 
 

In the context of the new Cabinet’s priority of 

Connecting communities, my transport budget has 

been developed based on the following prioritisation: 

 

1. Maintain rail services and complete CVL. 

 

2. Improve the safety and resilience of the SRN by an additional 100km of roads in 

poor condition (potholes) and progressing with major asset renewal. 

 

3. Develop bus services, fleet, and infrastructure for franchising. 

 

4. Continue to support development of Regional Transport Plans and delivery of local 

schemes. 

 

 

In ensuring that the FM’s priorities, there is an overall increase of £33m revenue over 

24/25 (excluding approximately £32m additional A465 MIM commitments to be covered 

by central funding and £5m Local Government borrowing initiative). On the capital side, 

there is an increase of £51m to support the completion of the CVL, improve the SRN, and 

maintain grants to local authorities. 

Pack Page 81



Welsh Government evidence paper on the Transport MEG Draft Budget Proposals for 2025-26 

Climate Change & Economic Infrastructure Committee 

4 

 

 

 
 

Resource 
 

The changes made from the 2025-26 Indicative Final 

Budget in Feb 2024 (restated to account for portfolio 

changes are as follows: 
 
 

Resource Movements Plans as 

per 

2024-25 

Final 

Budget 

Restated 

September 

2024 

Changes 2025-26 

Draft Budget 

December 

2024 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Fiscal Resource    

3830 - Strategic Infrastructure 

Development 
950 0 950 

Motorway and Trunk Roads 
Operations 

59149 58758 117907 

1884 - SRN Contractual Payments 9681 48176 57857 

1885 - SRN Operations & Renewals 49468 10582 60050 

Road, Rail, Air and Sea Services 391549 -6749 384800 

1883 - National & International 
Connectivity 

4172 -72 4100 

1890 - Frontline Rail Services 600 -600 0 

1895 - Rail Service Support 386777 -6077 380700 

Sustainable Travel 125202 22298 147500 

1880 - Bus Service Support 123337 9163 132500 

1882 - Regional Transport & Active 
Travel 

0 7800 7800 

2030 - National Policy Development 
and Projects 

1865 5335 7200 

1892 - Road Safety 5000 -5000 0 

1250 - Armed Forces 20 350 370 
 581870 69657 651527 

Non-Fiscal Resource    

1886 - Network Operations Non-Cash 188691 0 188691 

1886 - Transport for Wales Non-Cash 38000 0 38000 
 226691 0 226691 

TOTAL RESOURCE BUDGETS 808561 69657 878218 

Pack Page 82



Welsh Government evidence paper on the Transport MEG Draft Budget Proposals for 2025-26 

Climate Change & Economic Infrastructure Committee 

5 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

The main changes relate to the following: 

• BEL1884 – Additional funding re contractual A465 MIM project and additional 

allocation for roads management 

• BEL 1885 – Additional allocation for roads maintenance 

• BEL 1895 – Additional allocation for TfW rail services/BEL 1890 merged 

• BEL 1880 – Additional allocation for statutory bus support 

• Restructuring BELs 1882, 2030 and 1892/Additional funding for government 

borrowing initiative 

• BEL 1250 – Support for Armed Forces Liaison Officers 

Pack Page 83



Welsh Government evidence paper on the Transport MEG Draft Budget Proposals for 2025-26 

Climate Change & Economic Infrastructure Committee 

6 

 

 

 
 

Capital 
 

The changes made from the 2025-26 Indicative Final 

Budget in Feb 2024 (restated to account for portfolio 

changes are as follows: 
 
 

Capital Movements Plans as 

per 

2024-25 

Final 

Budget 

Restated 

September 

2024 

Changes 2025-26 

Draft 

Budget 

December 

2024 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 

3830 - Strategic Infrastructure Development 5000 0 5000 

1885 - SRN Operations & Renewals 185300 1100 186400 

1895 - Rail Service Support 95497 86100 181597 

Sustainable Travel 188000 -32200 155800 

1880 - Bus Service Support 68000 -37000 31000 

1882 - Regional Transport & Active Travel 40000 80000 120000 

2030 - National Policy Development and 

Projects 

80000 -75200 4800 

1892 - Road Safety 4000 -4000 0 

TOTAL CAPITAL BUDGETS 477797 51000 528797 

 

 

 

The main changes relate to the following: 

• BEL 1895 - Additional for rail infrastructure/Core Valleys Lines 

• BEL 1880 – Adjusted profile for bus infrastructure 

• Restructuring and BELs 1882, 2030 and 1892 

Pack Page 84



Welsh Government evidence paper on the Transport MEG Draft Budget Proposals for 2025-26 

Climate Change & Economic Infrastructure Committee 

7 

 

 

 

 
 

Cross cutting themes 
 

Preventative Spend 

 

 
These budget proposals reflect my continuing commitment to protect and prioritise 

investment that supports preventative measures as far as possible. Value for money and 

clarity over how we use our resources effectively is central to delivering our priorities. 

Once expenditure is planned in line with priorities, we have well-established processes in 

place to ensure that resources are used effectively for the purposes intended. 

 
 

Specific metrics are used to evaluate support programmes, as set out in the Wales 

Transport Strategy for example. 

 
 

The assessment and value for money is referenced below. 

 

 
Evidence-based policy making 

 

 
Evidence from a wide range of sources underpins our financial decisions such as 

published research, engagement with stakeholders, previous policy evaluations and 

statistics. This is embedded in decision making with some examples as follows: 

 
 

Transport for Wales update and publish on our behalf monitoring and evaluation data 

for the Wales Transport Strategy that is used to track progress against achieving the 

priorities and ambitions and identify any areas where further interventions may be 

required to meet our targets. This is part of the broader work that the analytical unit in 

TfW carries out on behalf of the Welsh Government to support the assessment of 

policies and schemes to deliver our shared ambitions and statutory duties using 

bespoke data collection and synthesis and Wales-wide transport models. 

 
 

Well-being of Future Generations Act 

 

 
My draft budget preparations show how I have sought to reflect the framework of the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act in setting our spending priorities. Current trends 

and future projections have been considered and their potential impacts in the short, 

medium and longer term. 

Pack Page 85



Welsh Government evidence paper on the Transport MEG Draft Budget Proposals for 2025-26 

Climate Change & Economic Infrastructure Committee 

8 

 

 

 
 

 
 

Equality, Welsh language and children’s rights assessment 

 

 
As part of the Draft Budget, I have taken an integrated approach to impact assessments, 

as well as considering the impact of decisions and policies on social, economic, cultural 

and environmental well-being, as set out within the Well-being of Future Generations 

(Wales) Act, which continues to be an important driver guiding our Budget 

considerations. 

 
 

My Budget sets out the impacts of spending decisions, including highlighting spending 

decisions that directly impact on our stakeholders. This is complemented by the 

Strategic Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA), outlining the strategic evidence and 

impacts that have supported spending decisions. 

Pack Page 86



Welsh Government evidence paper on the Transport MEG Draft Budget Proposals for 2025-26 

Climate Change & Economic Infrastructure Committee 

9 

 

 

 

 
 

Legislation 
 

Legislation will be introduced next year which will reform the way bus services are 

provided, allowing public bodies to work together to plan and deliver the local bus 

network people need in Wales. This legislation will not have any significant budget 

implications in 2025/26, though there is an increase in the bus budget to help maintain 

the existing network ahead of bus reform beginning in 2027. 

Pack Page 87



Welsh Government evidence paper on the Transport MEG Draft Budget Proposals for 2025-26 

Climate Change & Economic Infrastructure Committee 

10 

 

 

 
 

Climate Change 
 

The draft Budget supports my focus on decarbonising transport in line with our Net 

Zero Wales policies. Investments in electric vehicle charging infrastructure will support 

the switch to zero emission cars and vans and funding for zero emission buses will 

deliver cleaner and modernised services. My investments in public transport and active 

travel will encourage modal shift to sustainable transport modes. Revenue allocations 

will support the development of evidence-based carbon abatement policies for Carbon 

Budget 3. 

Pack Page 88



Welsh Government evidence paper on the Transport MEG Draft Budget Proposals for 2025-26 

Climate Change & Economic Infrastructure Committee 

11 

 

 

 

 
 

Transport 
 

1 Strategic Road Network 

Revenue 

 

a. SRN Contractual Payments (£57.857m) 

 

 
I have created a new budget line to remove the operation and maintenance element of 

the SRN from the payments required for contractual commitments: - 

 
 

• A55 DBFO Payments are continuing until 2028. The repayment is forecast 

to be £18m for 2025/26. 

 
 

• Cleddau Tolls commitment of £3m per annum and being paid until 2039. 

 
 

• A465 Section 5 & 6 MIM Annual Service Repayment cost of £36.857m 

 
 

All the above are committed contractual obligations. 

 

 
b. SRN Network Operations and Renewals (£60.050m) 

 

 
The total SRN revenue requirement is £81.230m in 25/26 (excluding repayments for A465 

MIM). This increase reflects the significant maintenance backlog and the FM’s priority to 

fix roads. 

 
 

The funding is required to undertake the day-to-day operation and maintenance for the 

SRN across Wales. Costs cover the statutory duties under the Welsh Government Trunk 

Road Maintenance Manual, the arrangements under the Welsh Government Managing 

Agent Agreement for the two trunk road agents along with the Welsh Government 

Traffic Officer services which operates on key high-flow routes in north and south Wales. 

Pack Page 89



Welsh Government evidence paper on the Transport MEG Draft Budget Proposals for 2025-26 

Climate Change & Economic Infrastructure Committee 

12 

 

 

 
 

 
 

Capital 
 

 

c. SRN Operations and renewals (£186.4m) 

 

 
The uplift in revenue allows for more efficient use of capital budgets and will support a 

significant uplift for maintenance of the Strategic Road Network (SRN), needed to meet 

the Welsh Ministers’ statutory commitments. As part of this I am creating a road 

improvement fund that will allow the improvement of up to 100km of the network 

(reducing and preventing potholes) and is the first step in addressing the road condition 

backlog. 

 

 

 
2 Transport Strategy and Policy 

 

 
I have re-organised the budgets which support local authority transport investment and 

our national transport policies. This affects the budget lines previously described as 

‘Local Transport Priorities’, ‘Sustainable and Active Travel’ and ‘Road Safety’. In future, the 

‘Regional Transport and Active Travel’ budget line will cover investment by local 

authorities and Transport for Wales to support the delivery of the Regional Transport 

Plans, which are currently being developed by Corporate Joint Committees. The 

‘National Policy Development and Projects’ budget line will cover spending on national 

transport policy. 

 
 

Revenue 

 

 
a. National Policy Development and Projects (£7.2m) 

 

 
Next year, I am increasing the transport strategy-rated revenue budget allocation from 

£6.9m to £7.2m to enhance the resources available for road safety, decarbonisation, 

policy and evidence. 

 
 

b. Regional Transport (£7.8m) 

 

 
Funding for Regional Transport includes £2.8m of funding for local authorities to carry 

out road safety training and for the Corporate Joint Committees to continue work on 

Regional Transport Plans. 

Pack Page 90



Welsh Government evidence paper on the Transport MEG Draft Budget Proposals for 2025-26 

Climate Change & Economic Infrastructure Committee 

13 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Over the past two financial years, we have awarded each Corporate Joint Committee 

(CJC) £225,000 towards development of the Regional Transport Plans. CJCs have made 

good progress on their RTPs and are due to consult in early 2025. Funding for Regional 

Transport will allow a further contribution towards the work of the CJCs on their 

Regional Transport Plans. 

 
 

An additional £5m resource funding is being allocated to the Transport MEG in 25-26 for 

a local government borrowing initiative to enable Local Authorities to borrow up to 

£60m to combat potholes and support other maintenance on their local road networks. 

 

 
Allocations for LA grants are dependent on the applications received for local authorities, 

which are due to be submitted by 20 December and will be assessed in early 2025. The 

latest information (spend and current year allocations) for all grant schemes apart from 

the Active Travel Fund (which is covered separately) is shown below: 

 

 
 

 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 

Local 

Transport 

Fund – 

capital 

53,011,591 48,622,595 17,635,108 20,944,956 23,065,289 Share of 

c£100m 

Local 

Transport 

Network 

Fund – 

capital 

3,686,410      

Resilient 

Roads Fund 

– capital 

18,836,877 17,933,248 4,600,474 7,392,692 9,073,000 Share of 

c£100m 

Unadopted 

Roads – 

capital 

 1,307,172  458,328  Share of 

c£100m 

Covid 19 – 

capital 

12,743,431 1,030,000     

Ultra Low 

Emissions 

Transformati 

on Vehicle 

Fund – 

capital 

  1,593,784 6,678,336 6,589,213 Share of 

c£100m 

Pack Page 91



Welsh Government evidence paper on the Transport MEG Draft Budget Proposals for 2025-26 

Climate Change & Economic Infrastructure Committee 

14 

 

 

 
 

 

Road Safety 

– capital 

3,925,722 2,770,002 1,024,138  3,553,177 Share of 

c£100m 

Road Safety 

– revenue 

628,520 2,028,539 1,326,091 1,630,356 1,597,645 Up to 

£2m 

20MPH – 

capital 

 435,673 7,913,628 21,318,995 7,432,131 Share of 

c£100m 

20MPH – 

revenue 

 1,365,372     

Total 92,832,551 9,436,575 34,093,223 58,423,663 51,310,455 TBC 

 

 

 
 

Active Travel spend (current year allocations) - all 

 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 

Total £ 49,717,860 64,007,369 56,970,829 59,658,715 65,282,338 TBC 

Population* 3,169,586 3,131,640 3,131,640 3,131,640 3,131,640 3,131,640 

Total per 

capita 

£15.69 £20.19 £18.19 £19.05 £20.85 TBC 

 

EV charging infrastructure 

 

 
Final plans for EV charging infrastructure in 2025-26 are still being finalised. These will 

include completing phase 1 of EV infrastructure installation at railway stations and 

beginning phase 2. They are also likely to include a training programme to upskill LA 

staff, annual maintenance of existing infrastructure on the strategic road and railway 

network and work to identify target areas for EV installations using an evidence-based 

approach. 

 
 

Funding in previous years for the Ultra Low Emissions Vehicle Transformation Fund and 

other local authority grants are shown below. 

Pack Page 92



Welsh Government evidence paper on the Transport MEG Draft Budget Proposals for 2025-26 

Climate Change & Economic Infrastructure Committee 

15 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

LA capital grant allocations 

 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025- 

26 

Ultra Low 

Emissions 

Transformation 

Vehicle Fund 

Nil Nil 1,593,784 6,678,336 6,589,213 Share 

of 

c£100 

m 

Local Transport 53,011,591 48,622,595 17,635,108 20,944,956 23,065,289 Share 

of 

c£100 

m 

Resilient Roads 

Fund 

4,141,501 6,554,231 3,458,343 4,727,367 6,149,338 Share 

of 

c£100 

m 

Unadopted 

Roads 

Nil 1,307,172 Nil 458,328 989,487 Share 

of 

c£100 

m 

Road Safety 

Grant 

3,925,722 2,770,002 1,024,138 Nil 3,553,177 Share 

of 

c£100 

m 

20MPH 

Implementation 

Nil 435,673 7,913,628 21,318,995 7,432,131 Share 

of 

c£100 

m 

Pack Page 93



Welsh Government evidence paper on the Transport MEG Draft Budget Proposals for 2025-26 

Climate Change & Economic Infrastructure Committee 

16 

 

 

 
 

 
 

3 Public Transport 

 

 
Transport for Wales 

 

 
The allocations in the draft budget are based on the first draft of TfW’s forecasts for 

25-26 developed over the summer. This is the earliest that we have received TfW’s 

initial top-down estimate of forecast future year costs and is the result of significant 

efforts across both organisations to align budget-setting processes. Further work has 

been undertaken since then and two challenge sessions with TfW’s executive team 

are scheduled in early December to further interrogate and challenge cost and 

income assumptions. Full budget documentation will be revised and provided to WG 

in early January. It would be premature, therefore, to provide a more detailed 

breakdown of TfW’s full budget allocation for 25-26 but we will share any available 

information in advance of the CCEI scrutiny session in January. 

 
 

Revenue 

 

 
a. Rail Service Support (£380.700m) 

 

 
Following agreement with HM Treasury, there has been an increase in this year’s rail 

budget of £18.72m to support the operation, maintenance, and renewal of the CVL. 

Once this increase has been accounted for and following ongoing significant scrutiny 

and challenge of the TfW budget, there will be a reduction of £7.7m in the revenue 

budget to support rail operations, including those related to the South Wales Metro. 

This includes a circa £10m challenge to TfW to reduce costs and increase revenues. 

[Following the incident on the rail network at Talerddig, although there is currently 

no indication that additional funding will be required, there is a possibility of 

consequences for the cost of maintaining or replacing rolling stock.] 

 
 

The revenue funding that I have allocated allows for the delivery of the Wales and 

Borders Rail franchise by TfW on behalf of Welsh Ministers. As part of this TfW will 

continue delivering on our Programme for Government commitments. They will 

finish delivering the brand-new rolling stock, which is already providing new, faster, 

and more comfortable trains as well as increasing the resilience of the services which 

are operated by the rail franchise thus improving performance for customers. 

 

 
b. Bus Service Support (£132.5m) 

Pack Page 94



Welsh Government evidence paper on the Transport MEG Draft Budget Proposals for 2025-26 

Climate Change & Economic Infrastructure Committee 

17 

 

 

 

 
 

Appropriate levels of funding for bus networks are key as we plan for bus franchising 

through the forthcoming Bus Bill, to ensure that services are not lost. The bus budget 

has remained cash flat for some years, but I am now able to allocate an additional 

£9m to mitigate additional costs of services, and the demand-led concessionary fares 

scheme. 

 
 

In 2024-25 the Bus Network Grant was established to fund local authorities to secure 

the services they deem socially necessary. This funding scheme sits alongside the 

longstanding Bus Services Support Grant. These will both continue in 2025/26, as will 

support for the Community Transport sector. I will also continue to provide funding 

to Transport for Wales for preparatory work for franchising, the management of the 

TrawsCymru network, Fflecsi services, the provision of timetable information through 

Traveline Cymru. 

 

 

 
Capital 

 

 
c. Rail Service Support (£181.597m) 

 
Our continued investment in the Core Valley Transformation Project will deliver a truly 

modern rail network, that operates 100% clean electric trains on the infrastructure we 

own. It will change the way people travel by improving journey times and service 

frequency, encouraging more people to use the railways. Furthermore, the investment 

makes a significant contribution to our PfG commitment to make the public transport 

system more accessible to disabled people by ensuring stations have step free access 

and improved access on the new rolling stock. My priority therefore is to support the 

completion of the transformational CVL project, and I have allocated £181.6m to the rail 

capital budget (including non-CVL elements). 

 
 

d. Bus Service Support (£31m) 

 
I am supporting further phasing of bus capital budgets through a £31m allocation next 

year, including the purchase of new buses. This has allowed the prioritisation of Cabinet’s 

priorities. 

Pack Page 95



Welsh Government evidence paper on the Transport MEG Draft Budget Proposals for 2025-26 

Climate Change & Economic Infrastructure Committee 

18 

 

 

 
 

 
 

4 National and International Connectivity 

 

 
Revenue 

 

 
a. National and International Connectivity (£4.1m) 

 
The aviation budget has been renamed the National and International 

Connectivity budget to reflect my planned allocations to support freight, marine, 

data collection, and analysis, as well as ongoing work on the future of Cardiff 

Airport. 

 

 
 

5 Armed Forces 

 

 

 
Revenue 

 

 
a. Armed Forces (£0.37m) 

 

 
I have increased the Armed Forces budget next year to continue to support for Armed 

Forces Liaison Officers and Wales Armed Forces Day. 

Pack Page 96



Further evidence to the CCEI Committee on TfW’s 25/26 budget allocations 

The allocations in the draft budget are based on the first draft of TfW’s forecasts for 

25-26 developed over the summer. This is the earliest that we have received TfW’s 

initial top-down estimate of forecast future year costs and is the result of significant 

efforts across both organisations to align budget-setting processes.  

Further work has been undertaken since and challenge sessions with TfW’s 

executive team took place over two days in early December to further interrogate 

and challenge cost and income assumptions in the second version of their budget. 

The outcome of these sessions will inform a further iteration of the budget in January 

before the Welsh Government’s annual funding letter is published alongside TfW’s 

business plan for 25-26 in advance of the start of the financial year. 

It should be noted that up to last financial year, funding for the operations, 

maintenance, and renewal (OMR) of the CVL network was funded via transfers from 

the DfT to the Welsh Government’s transport budgets. Following the end of this 

interim arrangement, this funding was for the first time this financial year included in 

the Welsh Government’s block grant and have been subsequently included in the 

WG’s transport revenue and capital budgets this year.  

Revenue Budgets 

TfW Revenue BEL Allocation (£m) 

Budget Expenditure Line  
25/26 

Budget 

Rail Service Support 1895 380.2 

Bus Service Support  1880 13.0 

National & International Connectivity 1883 2.1 

  Total 395.3 

Rail Service Support - BEL 1895 

Following this increase in the budget this financial year, next year’s budget is broadly 

flat (following the reallocation of some items to BEL 1883 described below). This 

follows detailed scrutiny of TfW’s forecast budget and a £10m challenge placed on 

TfW to increase fares revenue and reduce costs compared with initial forecasts. 

Experience this year has suggested that setting realistic but stretching budget 

targets promotes prudent financial management and commercial practices and an 

even greater commitment and culture of increasing revenues and reducing costs. 

The values in this table do not include the additional forecast funding allocation from 

the UK Government of around £20.2m for track access charges and England-only 

services which have yet to be finalised. 

Next financial year will see the bulk of the work completed on the CVL 

transformation, associated trains operational, and new turn up and go services 

offered. As a result, we expect the subsidy requirement to reduce in future years. 

 

 

Pack Page 97



Bus Service Support – BEL 1880 

This funding will support Transport for Wales in their preparatory work for 

franchising, funding for and management of the TrawsCymru network, Fflecsi 

services, and the provision of timetable information through Traveline Cymru.  

National & International Connectivity – BEL 1883 

Funding for TfW’s analytical unit and secondee programme that both support work 

across the transport portfolio will be allocated from the National and International 

Connectivity budget. These items were previously funded through the rail support 

budget. 

Capital Budgets 

TfW Capital BEL Allocation (£m) 

Budget Expenditure Line 
25/26 

Budget 

Rail Service Support 1895 181.6  

Bus Service Support 1880 31.0  

Regional Transport and Active Travel 1882 TBC*  

SRN Operations and Renewals 1885 1.6  

  Total TBC 

*The total available funding for local authority grants has been maintained at 24-25 levels but the 

value of active travel grants, which are managed and monitored on the Welsh Government’s behalf by 

TfW, has yet to be finalised. 

Rail Service Support – Rail – BEL 1895 

£181.6m has been allocated next financial year to rail capital, which includes 

continued investment to transform and maintain the Core Valley Lines, and the 

ongoing delivery of new planned rolling stock to operate across the network.  

Bus Service Support - BEL 1880 

The bus capital budget will be used to support preparations for franchising including 

the purchase of replacement buses and associated infrastructure, including the 

establishment of a hydrogen bus pathfinder project. This will support cost effective 

and attractive bus services and also contribute towards decarbonisation of the 

transport network. 

Regional Transport and Active Travel  

This BEL includes funding for local authorities and Transport for Wales to develop  

and deliver local schemes. The total available funding for local authority grants has 

been maintained at 24-25 levels. Grant schemes include the Active Travel Fund, the 

Local Transport Fund, the Resilient Roads Fund, EV charging infrastructure, Safe 

Routes in Communities and Road Safety. The value of active travel grants, which 

are managed and monitored on the Welsh Government’s behalf by TfW, has yet to 

be finalised and will be based on the strength of applications from local authorities, 

taking into account the views of CJCs in advance of the devolution of decision-

making through regional transport plans in the future. 

Pack Page 98



 

 

 

 

 

27 November 2024 

Dear Huw, 

Thank you for your constructive response to the Committee’s report on the “Restoration of opencast 

mining sites” and your contribution to the debate on the report on 13 November. I wanted to write to 

you in light of the debate to raise several questions on issues you did not address in your response 

and to draw your attention to additional information provided to the Committee in response to the 

Report.  

The additional information provided by contributors is attached in full to this letter. It includes 

submissions from residents of Margam and Swansea who have been affected by opencast 

developments. The issues raised by both sets of residents are summarised below: 

Restoration Funding and Accountability: Both sets of residents stress the need for annual, escrow-

funded accounts for industrial sites to ensure full restoration and prevent companies from avoiding 

obligations once they cease operations. 

Enforcement of Original Restoration Plans: Approved restoration commitments are often not 

enforced, with sites like Park Slip West and East Pit left only partially restored. This leads to ongoing 

environmental and community impacts. 

Subsidence and Structural Damage: There has been a case of severe home damage from subsidence 

near East Pit, emphasising the need for protections for local properties. 

Water-filled Mine Voids as Safety Risks: The large, unregulated water volumes in former mine sites, 

including East Pit, pose flooding risks, especially in areas near fault lines. Proper assessments by 

engineers and hydrologists are needed to mitigate these risks. 

Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd,  
yr Amgylchedd a Seilwaith 
— 
Climate Change, Environment,  
and Infrastructure Committee 

Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN 

SeneddHinsawdd@senedd.cymru 
senedd.cymru/SeneddHinsawdd 

0300 200 6565 

— 
Welsh Parliament 

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN 
SeneddClimate@senedd.wales 

senedd.wales/SeneddClimate 
0300 200 6565 

Huw Irranca-Davies MS 

Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Climate 

Change and Rural Affairs 

Pack Page 99

Agenda Item 4.1

mailto:SeneddHinsawdd@senedd.cymru
mailto:SeneddClimate@senedd.wales


 

 

Health and Environmental Concerns: Pollution from opencast sites, including particulate matter and 

water contamination, poses long-term health risks. Clear monitoring protocols are needed to address 

these risks. 

The Committee has also received a submission from Mr Manus Molloy, who wants to indicate his 

support for the development at Ffos-y-Fran and to explain the positive aspects of the development. 

Mr Molloy worked at Ffos-y-Fran at phases one and two and was also a member of the local liaison 

committee for the site. He emphasises that considerable restoration has already been achieved as a 

result of the development. Mr Molloy has provided hard copies of several documents in support of 

his position, and copies can be provided by the Committee Secretariat on request. 

I also wanted to follow up on several issues that you did not address in your response to the debate. 

1. As I and other contributors stated in the debate, residents have expressed frustration at being 

continually passed from one public body to another. I recognise that you explained the lines of 

accountability in your response, but as I said during the debate, I do not believe this addresses 

the nub of the problem. If a resident believes that a public body or the site operator is not 

fulfilling their obligations properly, what recourse is available to them? Please include in your 

response information about each of the bodies involved in the process. 

 

2. How is the Welsh Government planning to allocate the £25 million funding for coal tip safety 

from the UK Government?  

 

3. The Welsh Government’s White Paper on Coal Tip Safety says, “To support the coal tip safety 

programme, the Welsh Government has committed £44.4 million over the next three years to 

support local authorities carry out maintenance and remediation works on coal tips”. In light of 

this, how satisfied are you with the sum of £25m allocated by the UK Government? 

 

4. Can you update the Committee on discussions you have had with the UK Government about 

the need for further funding for coal tip safety? 

 

5. Could you provide more detail on the Welsh Government’s proposed “strategic approach to 

mining and industrial legacy,” including specific objectives, timelines, and planned resources? 

 

6. Will the Welsh Government commit to ensuring that proposed developments for coal tip 

reclamation explicitly incorporate lessons learned from sites like Ffos-y-Fran? 

 

7. In light of the emerging proposals for coal-tip reclamation developments, what additional 

community benefit-sharing models will be considered if community ownership is not feasible? 

 

 

Pack Page 100



 

 

8. Can you explain how the Welsh Government has considered and reviewed the need for 

potential changes to MTAN2 (and any other relevant guidance note or policy) in the light of 

emerging proposals for coal-tip reclamation developments?  

In formulating your response to this letter, I would be grateful if you would consider the 

supplementary information provided by residents affected by opencast mining, attached in Annex A. 

I should be grateful for a response as soon as possible and by 3 January at the latest. 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 

 

 

Llyr Gruffydd MS,  

Chair, Climate Change, Environment and Infrastructure Committee 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg | We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English. 

  

Pack Page 101



 

 

Annex A 

Submission from Janice Adamson in response to the Committee’s report 

1.  The paragraph on Tower Colliery Opencast restoration funding seemed  incorrect to me.  I 

don’t know if the committee consulted the CEO of RCT on this matter, if not, they should.  I 

had read that he ensured the planned restoration of the site by insisting on full payment 

upfront each year of opencast mining of sufficient funds to pay for the agreed restoration of 

the mining that was to take place that year.  Thus when mining ended there was £96 million 

available for the planned restoration which then went ahead. 

2. The importance of such an annual assessment and payment of funding necessary for the 

restoration of such industrial sites - not only of coal mining - but also of wind turbines, solar 

farms and their associated infrastructure of lithium battery storage containers, electricity pylon 

networks etc, even of nuclear power sites if any are ever built, is of prime significance in 

providing for the eventual restoration of these structures that are being spread like unwanted 

marmalade across our scenic countryside.  The profits gained from these developments need 

to be regulated on an annual ongoing basis by the payment into an escrow fund of sufficient 

monies each year to cover the cost of the eventual restoration of the site.  If not, I can see that 

come the day, the so called ‘Green Energy’ companies will behave in the same way as the 

privatised opencast coal industry has in recent years and walk away from the expense of 

restoration having squeezed all the vast profits from the endeavours. 

3. There seems to be an emphasis in the report on public involvement in decisions concerning 

restoration alternative to that initially promised and which to a large extent ensured the 

planning consent in the first place.  The emphasis should be on ensuring and funding the 

restoration plans detailed so minutely in the planning application that gained the consent 

originally.  It is a mockery to give such consent, where  ‘amazing’, detailed restoration is 

promised in order to gain that consent - as for Park Slip West in 1992/93 ( Public Inquiry 

Planning Inspector Mr Sheers) - and then after years of the local communities patiently 

suffering the pollution of all kinds, loss of roads, footpaths and general inconvenience, in the 

belief that restoration as agreed and promised will happen, to then renege on the agreement 

and reluctantly scrape a totally unacceptable, alternative, poorer finish.  In the Park Slip 

Margam area we’ve even been robbed of two cross valley roads, ancient routes, so not only 

was there the inconvenience during the mining which  provided the private company with 

huge profits while a local newsagent failed due to loss of passing trade, the environment  was 

destroyed along with people’s homes at Fforddygyfraith and the characterful Heol Fadoc 

Farmhouse.  

4. There is a problem with restoration, as at Park Slip/Margam, when the mining operation 

moves along the outcrop resulting in successive applications for the next four years.  Not only 

has restoration not happened but on overburden mounds, soil storage mounds and along 

watercourses, a certain amount of natural regrowth occurs and the company then cries that it 

cannot restore the site as planned because there are rare species living on structures, tips, that 

were intended as temporary storage areas, intended to be pushed back into the final void and 

Pack Page 102



 

 

used in the restoration.  Thus the overburden mound constructed under the NCB Opencast 

Executive in the 1980’s during the Park Slip stage of the opencast, located to the west of Law 

Street iis still there.  Both that overburden mound and the backfill mound from the next stages,  

following privatisation, Park Slip West andPark Slip West Extension,  and the Margam/ Park Slip 

‘Deep Mine’ opencast still stand.  The former, located in Bridgend CBC, apart from having 20 

metres added to it’s height in 2001, has been left with no landscaping whatsoever and the  

backfill mound, in NPT CBC,has been slightly rounded along it’s outline.  Bedford Road should 

have been reinstated in 2002 but the company was allowed to continue mining westwards 

without doing the necessary restoration. Someone should be answerable for allowing such 

contempt of consented plans. 

5. Planning Officers have a great deal of power, they dictate and influence decisions by local 

authority planning committees. As such they are open to ‘influence’ by the mining or energy 

companies and there needs to be a second tier of control above them.  Why wasn’t Bedford 

Road reinstated and the restoration due at that time undertaken?  There has been a 

succession of Planning Officers and mineral Planning Officers in Bridgend and Neath Port 

Talbot since 1996 when Bridgend cbc took over from Mid Glamorgan CC and NPT cbc took 

over from West Glamorgan.  Martin Hooker, Tony Gore and then  Jonathan Parsons - he left 

after the alternative ‘restoration’ decision somewhere around 2016.   In NPT, Geoff White, Cliff 

Patten, Nicola Morgan Neville Morgan - minerals officer - he also left around 2016 and after all 

the wrangling, court cases and decisions the mineral officer from Carmarthen who was totally 

unfamiliar with the site then gained responsibility for the opencast mines across South Wales I 

believe.  Before the final decision on whether or not to accept the alternative restoration plan 

was put to Committee in 2016(?), a site visit was organised for Bridgend Planning Committee 

members and those of us on the Site Liaison committee - there was a man on the bus I was 

on, not a Celtic Energy employee, extolling the virtues of the alternative scheme, saying how 

well the river area had recovered and about the protected species on the overburden mound 

- was that Hugh Towns?  We were being faced with a virtually unrestored site, the loss of two 

highways - though in Planning, they always ignore that decision saying that it is up to the 

Highways department - even though in the planning application the planning committee 

consented to the full restoration which included the reinstatement of the roads.  There was this 

man, promoting the alternative non-restoration.   There is a lot of underhand  behaviour 

which ignores both decisions made and the wishes of the public they ‘serve’.  I asked that the 

planning committee ask the Welsh Government to call it in, to ask the Welsh Government to 

oversee the restoration, Jonathan Parsons seemed to find that amusing - NPT CBC had drawn 

up plans for the restoration of the site, paid for by the Welsh Government in 2014 because the 

Deep Mine, which was only ever applied for because that area of land was protected from 

opencast mining for the sinking of a deep mine, was not sunk and the company’s most recent 

restoration plans had included the deep mine with a much lesser amount of opencast than 

was eventually completed.  Part of the reason there were insufficient funds to restore properly 

was that the first occasion following privatisation that the Local Authorities could impose an 

escrow fund was with the 1999 application for Margam Deep Mine plus a small amount of 

opencast to enable the mine to be sunk from the bottom of the void.  The majority of the 

funds needed would come from a charge on the tonnage from the deep mine over the 25 or 

Pack Page 103



 

 

so years it was ‘expected’ to operate.  There was an informal statement from the company in a 

site liaison meeting in 2001 that the deep mine wouldn’t be sunk from the void due to 

technical issues.  Slightly more formal was the exchange of letters between Neville Morgan 

and Mr Gandhi, Celtic Energy planning officer in 2003 where the question was asked, when 

was the deep mine to be sunk as the void was going beyond the point where it could be.  Due 

to economic and technical issues it wouldn’t be going ahead.  Walters  became involved with 

Celtic Energy in 2002, the management buy out, headed by the former NCB South 

Walesmanager, Bryan Riddlestone (?)] had run the company up to that time.  He would have 

been fully aware of the restoration needed and at what stage.  He had overseen the NCB 

Opencast Executive restoration of Park Slip - now, 30 years later - recognised as a good 

restoration of an opencast site.  The kind of restoration which is the least the communities 

here should have been given, together with the reinstatement of both Crown Road and 

Bedford Road as Law Street had been reinstated in the early 1990s. 

6. One of the most attractive features of the non restoration at Park Slip/Margam is the flooded 

void.  It is said to be 48 metres deep but I think it is nearer 75 metres deep, knowing that the 

void itself is 110 metres deep and looking at the exposed wall on the north side.  I think NRW 

has possibly carried out a sonar measurement of the depth.   The water in it is very cold and 

comes from seepage through the rock strata, from old mines that have been cut into at depth 

along the valley from Tondu, from water soaked into the infill along the several miles that the 

opencast has progressed from Tondu to Hafod Heulog woods, from rainwater and surface 

runoff.  There are no natural streams into the void and a drainage channel has been cut to link 

it to the River Kenfig (Afon Cynffig) which lies just to the west.  There have been problems with 

the culvert to the river getting blocked but perhaps that has helped in slowing the run off 

during times of heavy rainfall because the road down valley at Marlas Farm often floods now 

when there is heavy rainfall.  This is a problem because the nearby road through Cornelly and 

Maudlam was removed when the M4 was constructed which means that the nearest route to 

Porthcawl from Kenfig Hill is to the east through South Cornelly or from the west near to 

Margam Park.  The void is vast with sheer sides on most of its circumference so it is 

exceptionally dangerous where there was no danger previously.  People, mainly youngsters 

are attracted to it during hot weather and despite some signage telling them not to swim they 

do, go on it with inflatables and jump in from the cliffs on the Penybryn side.  People enjoy 

walking, running and cycling along the gravel roads, mountain bikers and small motorbike’s 

traverse the tips and very slowly vegetation is returning in places.  We can only hope, I 

suppose, that the vast valley floor composed mainly of ground up rock, extending for miles 

doesn’t suffer earth movements along any of the many faults that underly it,  if the tip was 

shaken into movement perhaps that would fill the flooded void and where and how quickly 

would the water go then?  I believe the flooded void at East Pit is in more imminent danger 

and really needs to be assessed as the vast volume of water there, hangs above the 

population below and there has been recent movement along faults that underly it. 

Janice Adamson 

Local resident Kenfig Hill, former member of Park Slip Site Liaison Committee and of PACT - 

Protecting and Conserving Together - local group opposing the opencast development. 

Pack Page 104



 

 

Submission from Sue Jordan in response to the Committee’s report 

Thank you for the invitation to the launch of the Climate Change Committee’s report on the 

restoration of opencast sites in Wales. This represents an important, if incremental, step forward. For 

the first time, Welsh government acknowledges the fragmented, disparate and dysfunctional 

operation of the publicly funded bureaucracies involved in the approval and oversight of opencast 

mining, and some of the consequences for the safety of residents.  

The report has some omissions, which should be considered: 

What will change to avoid opencast mining damaging homes in future? 

When seeking evidence from the Coal Authority and the local authorities, the Committee focused on 

Ffos-y-Fran: neither the Coal Authority nor Neath Port Talbot Council were asked to explain the 

problems attributable to their negligence at East Pit and Margam.  

• Why was consent granted for East Pit in 2015 when the Coal Authority’s (Groundsure) Report 

of 2012 had indicated a ‘high risk of subsidence’ to adjacent houses? What provisions have 

been made to ensure that warnings are not overlooked elsewhere?  

• When this risk materialised in 2016-7, and our house was almost destroyed (photographs in 

attached), was section 38 of the Coal Mining Subsidence Act 1991 not followed? Why was 

responsibility abrogated by the Coal Authority, the Local Authority, Welsh Government, and 

Natural Resources Wales? What provisions have been made to ensure that harm is not 

overlooked again?  

Powers of enforcement are enshrined in current legislation: all public bodies failed to use them as 

intended. How will the risk that new legislation will eviscerate existing legislation be mitigated?  

Urgent actions to ensure safety of residents  

The volumes of water held in former opencast mine voids are sufficient to endanger the public should 

discharge or breaches occur. The residents of the Llynfell, Twrch and Swansea valleys are owed a duty 

of care.  

The former East pit site constitutes an unplanned reservoir of 40 million cubic metres of water, on an 

active earthquake fault and some 150m above the valley floor, with unstable sides and no constructed 

dam to retain water. In March 2024 the A4069 collapsed, severing the links between Upper and 

Lower Brynaman, and prolonging school transport times in crucial pre-exam weeks. We, Gwaun Cae 

Gurwen Community Council, and our Senedd member (Sioned Williams) requested full assessments 

from the Reservoirs Panel of the Institute of Chartered Engineers, hydrologists and geologists. 

However, in the Senedd transcript of 8.5.24, the minister (Julie James) failed to answer the question, 

twice (transcript below). 

Pack Page 105



 

 

Only full restoration, as promised in the 2004 planning application, can remove dangers of serious 

flooding of the valleys should another earthquake occur on the site of the February 2018 earthquake 

(4.6 on Richter scale). The compromise of an ‘acceptable level’ of restoration proposed in 

recommendation 7 does not ensure safety in the event of the collapse of any of loose rubble walls, 

whether due to earth movements, lightening strikes or heavy rain. Recommendation 22 addresses 

only the body of water at Ffos-y-Fran: Margam and East Pit should be rendered safe too. 

Recommendations 23 & 26 relate only to the common at Ffos-y-Fran, ignoring the Gwaun Cae 

Gurwen and Penlle’rfedwen common.    

The response from Jan Adamson relating to Parc slip, Margam provides an excellent account of the 

problems generated by mismanagement.  

Pollution due to opencast mining or outflow from residual bodies of water 

Particulate matter (PM2.5) and polluted water are recognised health hazards to adults, children and 

the unborn child. There was no information as to how these are monitored and managed by the 

responsible agency, the Coal Authority.   

Positive aspects of the report include: 

• Highlighting the potential hazards and likelihood of future opencast. It may be worthwhile to 

note (para 8) that soil recovery from opencasting takes centuries.  

• Voicing expert opinion: for example, Climate Change Cymru, para 24.  

• Raising concerns over funding for restoration (recommendation 16). The Westminster 

government’s enthusiasm for opencast mining in Wales is captured in the 2004 letter from the 

Department of Trade & Industry, attached. The Coal Industry Act 1994 expediting privatisation 

predates devolution. Paragraphs 32 - 35 highlight the impotence of the local authorities. Para 

68 clarifies the inabilities of the local authorities to assess the costs of restoration.  

• Recommendations 17-20 are positive, but may be insufficient to effect change. 

Although the recommendations of the committee warrant support, they do not compel public bodies 

to act. For example, ‘must’ might replace ‘should’ (4,7,9,11,14,15,18,19,26), and ‘must implement’ might 

replace ‘must consider /explore’ (5,13.21). 

Pack Page 106



Huw Irranca-Davies AS/MS 
Y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros 
Newid Hinsawdd a Materion Gwledig  
Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Climate 
Change and Rural Affairs  
 
 
 

Huw Irranca-Davies AS/MS 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Newid Hinsawdd a Materion 
Gwledig 
Cabinet Secretary for Climate Change & Rural Affairs 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Huw.Irranca-Davies@llyw.cymru 
               Correspondence.Huw.Irranca-Davies@gov.wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 
 
Ein cyf/Our ref: PO/HIDCC/0001/25 
 
 
Llŷr Gruffydd MS 
Chair  
Welsh Parliament 
Climate Change, Environment and Infrastructure Committee 
Cardiff Bay 
Cardiff  
CF99 1SN 

 
 
 

3 January 2025  
 

Dear Llŷr, 
 
Thank you for your letter of 24 November on behalf of the Senedd Climate Change 
Environment and Infrastructure Committee regarding the Committee’s report on 
“Restoration of opencast mining sites” and recent debate. Thank you also for enclosing the 
additional evidence you enclosed from Margam and Swansea residents. I have passed this 
onto my officials for consideration.   
 
Whilst the debate on 13 November was constructive, the time allocated for our discussion 
was inevitably not enough to cover such a vast and complex issue in full. I welcome your 
follow-up questions, which I will respond to in turn as follows:  
 

1. As I and other contributors stated in the debate, residents have expressed frustration 
at being continually passed from one public body to another. I recognise that you 
explained the lines of accountability in your response, but as I said during the debate, I 
do not believe this addresses the nub of the problem. If a resident believes that a 
public body or the site operator is not fulfilling their obligations properly, what recourse 
is available to them? Please include in your response information about each of the 
bodies involved in the process.  

 
If residents have concerns about how a site is operating, the first point of contact would be 
with the site operator either directly through their published contact point or via the site 
liaison committee. If that does not achieve resolution of the issue, the resident can complain 
to the relevant public body. 
 

Pack Page 107

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Huw.Irranca-Davies@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Huw.Irranca-Davies@gov.wales


The relevant body would be whichever organisation is responsible for enforcing the 
legislation relating to the issue of concern. 
 
The Mining Remediation Authority (formerly the Coal Authority) has a role managing 
subsidence damage claims and provide information on coal mining activities, matters 
reserved to the UK Government. Complaints about the customer service the authority 
provides should be taken through its complaint’s procedures in the first instance. If the issue 
relates to land subsidence then the case can be escalated to the Centre for Effective 
Dispute Resolution or Land Tribunal.  General service issues should be referred to the 
resident’s member of Parliament who can refer the matter to the Parliamentary and Health 
Service Ombudsman.   
 
For issues relating to water discharge, reservoirs, deposits of waste, tree felling or 
disturbance of wildlife, these can be raised with Natural Resources Wales.  Again, issues of 
poor customer service should be reported to the organisation’s complaints procedure in the 
first instance and then escalated to the Public Service Ombudsman for Wales. 
 
Most other issues are dealt with by the local authority which, outside of the national parks, 
are the local planning authority enforcing planning conditions, highway authority managing 
the roads, environmental health body investigating noise, dust smell and air quality 
complaints and general public safety issues. For issues of poor customer service, the local 
authority’s complaints procedure is the first step followed by reference to the Public 
Services Ombudsman for Wales. 
 
These delivery bodies have been given the role to enforce the regulatory controls on mining 
sites. They often have discretion on how this is done and the merits of the decisions cannot 
be challenged. However, if a resident thinks a decision made by an enforcing body is 
procedurally wrong or otherwise unlawful, they can apply to the Courts for a judicial review 
of the decision but should seek their own legal advice before doing so.   
 
The Welsh Ministers have reserve powers in areas such as planning, which enables 
residents to ask the Welsh Government to intervene in some limited circumstances. The 
Welsh Ministers cannot overturn the decision of a local planning authority other than when 
an applicant appeals on specific grounds. If a planning application has yet to be determined, 
it can “call in” the application to determine it instead of the local planning authority.  It can 
also be asked to exercise its reserve enforcement powers, however, would only do this in 
exceptional circumstances. 
 

2. How is the Welsh Government planning to allocate the £25 million funding for coal tip 
safety from the UK Government?  

 
The £25m will be allocated via the existing Coal Tip Safety Grant scheme. Local Authorities 
and Natural Resources Wales can apply for funding through the scheme. Any landform 
which meets the agreed definition of a disused tip will be eligible for consideration. 
Allocations through the scheme will be prioritised according to risk and we continue to work 
with our statutory partners to identify which sites we need to prioritise.  

 
3. The Welsh Government’s White Paper on Coal Tip Safety says, “To support the coal 

tip safety programme, the Welsh Government has committed £44.4 million over the 
next three years to support local authorities carry out maintenance and remediation 
works on coal tips”. In light of this, how satisfied are you with the sum of £25m 
allocated by the UK Government?  

 
 
 

Pack Page 108



We have allocated approximately £65m to local authorities, Natural Resources Wales and 
the Mining Remediation Authority (formerly the Coal Authority) since 2020 to undertake key 
activities to support the Welsh Government coal tip safety programme and recently 
confirmed a further £12m allocation for 2025-26 in the draft budget. Meanwhile, the £25m 
allocated by the UK Government is for a single financial year (2025-26) and is on top of our 
commitment. This represents a step-change in the level of investment towards ensuring our 
coal tip communities are safe. The Welsh Government’s immediate priority is now to ensure 
that we can deliver this allocation both within the given timeframes and within the existing 
resource capabilities we have in Wales. A longer-term priority will be to build up this 
resource capacity (I detail this further in my answer to question 5) and we will of course 
continue our discussions on funding needs with the UK Government in future rounds of the 
spending review.  

 
4. Can you update the Committee on discussions you have had with the UK Government 

about the need for further funding for coal tip safety?  
 
The Welsh Government has always been clear that coal tips need a sustained programme 
of investment and that we cannot and should not do this alone. This is a point which both I 
and my Cabinet colleagues, past and present, have raised with the UK Government for 
several years. The First Minister raised this directly with the Prime Minister during their 
earliest discussions in post and recently raised the issue again with the Prime Minister 
during the first meeting of the Council of Nations and Regions in October. The Chancellor’s 
subsequent Autumn budget demonstrates that the new UK Government has listened to 
what Wales needs and as I mention above, we will continue our discussions on funding 
needs with the UK Government in future rounds of the spending review. 

 
5. Could you provide more detail on the Welsh Government’s proposed “strategic 

approach to mining and industrial legacy,” including specific objectives, timelines, and 
planned resources?  

 
I introduced the Mine and Quarry Disused Tips (Wales) Bill to the Senedd on 9 December. 
The bill will establish the Disused Tips Authority for Wales whose main objective will be to 
ensure that disused tips do not threaten human welfare by reason of their instability. The 
current planned timetable aims for the new Authority to come into being in April 2027.  
 
Once the bill has been implemented I and Cabinet colleagues will look to outline our 
approach to dealing with Wales wider mining and industrial legacy. I believe that it is vital 
that we make sure we are working with UK Government to ensure that we are joined up on 
these issues – on this basis my first step in the new year will be to write to the Secretary of 
State for Wales seeking consensus on UK wide approach to dealing with the industrial 
legacy. 
 

6. Will the Welsh Government commit to ensuring that proposed developments for coal 
tip reclamation explicitly incorporate lessons learned from sites like Ffos-y-Fran?  

 
Our overarching policy on coal tip reclamation is to turn these sites into beneficial assets for 
our communities. We will of course consider the learnings from Ffos-y-Fran as we would for 
any such reclamation project. Ultimately, the best option for reclamation will depend on 
each specific tip, including its hazard status and proximity to sensitive receptors such as 
communities.   
 

7. In light of the emerging proposals for coal-tip reclamation developments, what 
additional community benefit-sharing models will be considered if community 
ownership is not feasible?  

 
Pack Page 109



We would not want to pass on any future liability for maintenance of coal tips to local 
communities. The maintenance of tips is a matter for the owners/operators and even if it 
were possible to link development of community benefits it is not right that communities pick 
up the bill for future restoration. 

 
8. Can you explain how the Welsh Government has considered and reviewed the need 

for potential changes to MTAN2 (and any other relevant guidance note or policy) in the 
light of emerging proposals for coal-tip reclamation developments?  

 
Our policy has been strengthened significantly against coal extraction since MTAN 2 was 
published to the point where the justification tests for new coal extraction would virtually 
prohibit new schemes. In addition, Ministers have put in place a Notification Direction which 
allows them to be sighted on any new proposals to extract fossil fuels which local authorities 
are minded to approve. Welsh Ministers also have a veto over the coal licensing regime 
meaning the likelihood of new opencast coal operations are extremely low. MTAN2 relates 
to new development rather than historic schemes so we have no intention of revising the 
document given the strong policy set out in Planning Policy Wales.  
 
I hope you find this information helpful. 
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
Huw Irranca-Davies AS/MS 
Y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Newid Hinsawdd  
a Materion Gwledig  
Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Climate Change and Rural Affairs  
 
 

Pack Page 110



 

 

 

 

 

2 December 2024 

7 November Committee visit 

Dear David and Chris, 

I am writing on behalf of the Climate Change, Environment, and Infrastructure Committee to thank 

you and MSW staff for hosting our recent visit to the Ffos-y-Fran opencast coalmine in Merthyr Tydfil. 

The visit allowed the Committee to better understand the issues that we discussed during the course 

of the inquiry, as well as the history involving the site, the work undertaken by Merthyr (South Wales) 

Limited and its predecessor companies, as well as the development of the proposed plans for a 

revised restoration plan, alongside Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council and Richards, Moorehead 

& Laing Ltd. 

Following our visit, we would also like to use this opportunity to highlight the plenary debate on 

“Restoration of opencast mining sites”, held on 13 November, which can be watched on SeneddTV, as 

well as: 

▪ The Committee’s report on the Restoration of opencast mining sites; 

▪ The response from the Welsh Government; 

▪ The response from Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council; 

Lastly, in light of the ongoing work between Merthyr (South Wales) Limited and Merthyr Tydfil County 

Borough Council, we would like to encourage greater community engagement and transparency, 

particularly given the impact on local residents as restoration plans are being revised, and that 

residents are consulted on any proposals that come forward in the coming months. 

Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd,  
yr Amgylchedd a Seilwaith 
— 
Climate Change, Environment,  
and Infrastructure Committee 

Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN 

SeneddHinsawdd@senedd.cymru 
senedd.cymru/SeneddHinsawdd 

0300 200 6565 

— 
Welsh Parliament 

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN 
SeneddClimate@senedd.wales 

senedd.wales/SeneddClimate 
0300 200 6565 

David Stanley Lewis 

Director, Merthyr (South Wales) Limited 

Chris Barber 

Operations Manager, Merthyr (South Wales) Limited 

Pack Page 111

http://www.senedd.tv/en/14180?startPos=11909&l=en
https://senedd.wales/media/uxyfozln/cr-ld16624-e.pdf
https://senedd.wales/media/nwdng2f3/gen-ld16780-e.pdf
https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s153719/Response%20from%20the%20leader%20of%20Merthyr%20Tydfil%20County%20Borough%20Council%20to%20the%20Committees%20report%20Restora.pdf
mailto:SeneddHinsawdd@senedd.cymru
mailto:SeneddClimate@senedd.wales


 

 

We look forward to seeing the development of a long-term plan to restore the site so that it is useful 

and honouring to the people of Merthyr, is environmentally diverse, plays its part in the region’s 

economic growth and serves generations to come. 

Due to the relevance of this matter, I am copying this letter to Ellis Cooper, Chief Executive of Merthyr 

Tydfil County Borough Council. 

Kind regards, 

 

 

 

Llyr Gruffydd MS,  

Chair, Climate Change, Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg | We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English. 

Pack Page 112



Huw Irranca-Davies AS/MS 
Y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros 
Newid Hinsawdd a Materion Gwledig  
Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Climate 
Change and Rural Affairs  
 
 
 

Huw Irranca-Davies AS/MS 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Newid Hinsawdd a Materion 
Gwledig 
Cabinet Secretary for Climate Change & Rural Affairs 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Huw.Irranca-Davies@llyw.cymru 
               Correspondence.Huw.Irranca-Davies@gov.wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 
Ein cyf/Our ref: HIDCC/PO/0362/24 
 
 
Mike Hedges MS  
Chair  
Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee  
Welsh Parliament 
Cardiff Bay 
Cardiff 
CF99 1SN 

 
2 December 2024  

 
Dear Mike,  
 
In accordance with the inter-institutional relations agreement, I wanted to report on the latest 
meeting of the Inter-Ministerial Group for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs on 18 
November 2024 which I attended. 
 
The meeting was chaired by Jim Fairlie MSP, Minister for Agriculture and Connectivity. 
 
The meeting was also attended by Mairi Gougeon MSP, Cabinet Secretary for Rural Affairs, 
Land Reform and Islands, Andrew Muir MLA, Minister of Agriculture, Environment and Rural 
Affairs, and Daniel Zeichner MP, Minister for Food Security and Rural Affairs. I have issued 
a Written Ministerial Statement summarising the discussions.  
 
The next meeting will take place on 27 January 2025. 
 
I have also copied this letter to the Climate Change, Environment and Infrastructure 
Committee and the Economy, Trade and Rural Affairs committee. 
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
Huw Irranca-Davies AS/MS 
Y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Newid Hinsawdd  
a Materion Gwledig  
Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Climate Change and Rural Affairs  

Pack Page 113

Agenda Item 4.2

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Huw.Irranca-Davies@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Huw.Irranca-Davies@gov.wales


Huw Irranca-Davies AS/MS 
Y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros 
Newid Hinsawdd a Materion Gwledig  
Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Climate 
Change and Rural Affairs  
 
 
 

Huw Irranca-Davies AS/MS 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Newid Hinsawdd a Materion 
Gwledig 
Cabinet Secretary for Climate Change & Rural Affairs 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Huw.Irranca-Davies@llyw.cymru 
               Correspondence.Huw.Irranca-Davies@gov.wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 
Ein cyf/Our ref: HIDCC/PO/0363/24 
 
Mike Hedges MS 
Chair 
Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee 
 
Llŷr Gruffydd MS 
Chair 
Climate Change, Environment and Infrastructure Committee 

 
4 December 2024  

 
Dear Mike, Llŷr, 
 
I am writing further to my letter of 11 October 2024, and in accordance with the inter-
institutional relations agreement, to report on the meeting of the Interministerial Group on 
Net Zero, Energy and Climate Change. 
 
The meeting was chaired by the Rt. Hon. Ed Miliband MP, Secretary of State for Energy 
Security and Net Zero. The meeting was also attended by Michael Shanks MP, Minister for 
Energy, Department for Energy Security and Net Zero; Gillian Martin MSP, Acting Cabinet 
Secretary for Net Zero and Energy; Dr Alasdair Allan MSP, Acting Minister for Climate 
Action; Andrew Muir MLA, Minister of Agriculture, Environment and Rural Affairs; and Conor 
Murphy MLA, Minister for the Economy. 
 
I have issued a Written Statement summarising the discussions. It has been agreed that 
Northern Ireland will chair the next meeting in Belfast. We are aiming to meet in December, 
but I will share the exact date of that and subsequent meetings with you as soon as they are 
confirmed. 
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
Huw Irranca-Davies AS/MS 
Y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Newid Hinsawdd  
a Materion Gwledig  
Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Climate Change and Rural Affairs 

Pack Page 114

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Huw.Irranca-Davies@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Huw.Irranca-Davies@gov.wales


Y Gwir Anrh/Rt Hon Eluned Morgan AS/MS 
Prif Weinidog Cymru/First Minister of Wales 

 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

                                   Gohebiaeth.ElunedMorgan @llyw.cymru 
               Correspondence.ElunedMorgan @gov.wales  

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 
Mike Hedges MS 
Chair 
Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee 
Senedd Cymru 
 
SeneddLJC@senedd.wales  
 

          6 December 2024 
 
 
Dear Mike, 
 
Inter-Institutional Relations Agreement: 42nd British-Irish Council Summit 
 
I am writing in accordance with the inter-institutional relations agreement to notify you of the 
42nd Summit meeting of the British-Irish Council, which will take place this week and is 
being hosted by the Scottish Government. 
 
The Cabinet Secretary for Economy, Energy and Planning, Rebecca Evans MS and I will be 
attending the summit in person. As well as the usual opportunity for a general update on 
issues, the theme of the Summit is ‘Financing a Just Transition’. 
 
A communiqué will be agreed by the Council at the Summit detailing the discussions held, 
and I will write to share these with you. I will also update the Senedd with a written 
statement in due course. 
 
I have also copied this letter to the Climate Change, Environment, and Infrastructure 
Committee, the Economy, Trade and Rural Affairs Committee, the Finance Committee, and 
the Culture, Communications, Welsh Language, Sport, and International Relations 
Committee. 
 

Yours sincerely, 

 
Eluned Morgan 

Pack Page 115

Agenda Item 4.3

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Mark.Drakeford@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Mark.Drakefordy@gov.wales
mailto:SeneddLJC@senedd.wales


 

 

 

 

 

6 December 2024 

Dear Cabinet Secretary, 

Petition P-06-1478 Comprehensively review NRW and its failure to deliver its statutory obligations to 
protect Wales 

The Petitions Committee considered the above petition, submitted by Alun Phillips, at its 18 
November meeting. 

The Committee agreed to write to seek your views on the attached correspondence from the 
petitioner and to copy in the Chairs of the Climate Change, Environment, and Infrastructure 
Committee and the Economy, Trade, and Rural Affairs Committee for their information. Members 
noted that the Climate Change and Rural Affairs Committee will continue to scrutinise these issues 
and there will also be opportunities for Members to continue raising them in plenary.  

As you are aware, the Committee is also considering two separate petitions regarding NRW’s 
approach to visitor centre services, and will also keep this petition P-06-1478 open, pending your 
response. 

Y Pwyllgor Deisebau 
— 
Petitions Committee 

Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN 

Deisebau@senedd.cymru 
senedd.cymru/SeneddDeisebau  

0300 200 6565 

— 
Welsh Parliament 

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN 
Petitions@senedd.wales  

senedd.wales/SeneddPetitions 
0300 200 6565 

Huw Irranca-Davies MS 
Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Climate Change 
and Rural Affairs 
Welsh Government 
Tŷ Hywel 
Cardiff Bay 
CF99 1SN 
 
Copied to:  
Llyr Gruffydd MS, Chair, Climate Change, Environment, and 
Infrastructure Committee 
Paul Davies MS, Chair, Economy, Trade, and Rural Affairs 
Committee 

Pack Page 116

Agenda Item 4.4



 

 

 

The full details of the Committee’s consideration of the petition, including the correspondence and 
the actions agreed by the Committee can be found here: P-06-1478 Comprehensively review NRW 
and its failure to deliver its statutory obligations to protect Wales 

I would be grateful if you could send your response by e-mail to the clerking team at 
petitions@senedd.wales. 

Yours sincerely 

 

Carolyn Thomas MS 
Chair 

 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg. 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English. 

Pack Page 117

https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=44674&Opt=0
https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=44674&Opt=0
mailto:petitions@senedd.wales


Rebecca Evans AS/MS 
Cabinet Secretary for Economy, Energy and Planning 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros yr Economi, Ynni a Chynllunio 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

                Correspondence.Rebecca.Evans@gov.wales 
Gohebiaeth.Rebecca.Evans@llyw.cymru 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 
 
Ein cyf/Our ref: MA/RE/11105/24 
 
Llyr Gruffydd MS 
Chair – Climate Change, Environment and Infrastructure Committee 
 
 
 

 
10 December 2024  

 
 
Dear Llyr, 
 
Thank you for your letter of 29 October regarding the scrutiny of the Welsh Government’s 
2025-26 budget which was published on 10 December. 
 
The enclosed paper provides detail on the Economy, Energy and Planning MEG’s plans, as 
set out in draft budget, and information on the specific areas requested by the Committee. 
 
 
Yours sincerely,  

 
 

 
 
Rebecca Evans AS/MS 
Cabinet Secretary for Economy, Energy and Planning 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros yr Economi, Ynni a Chynllunio 

Pack Page 118

Agenda Item 4.5

mailto:Correspondence.Rebecca.Evans@gov.wales
mailto:Gohebiaeth.Rebecca.Evans@llyw.cymru


Welsh Government evidence paper on 2025-26 Draft Budget for the Climate Change and 
Infrastructure Committee 

 

1 

‘ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This paper provides information to the Climate Change, Environment and Infrastructure 
(CCEI) Committee on the Economy, Energy and Planning Main Expenditure Group (MEG) 
proposals outlined in the draft Budget 2025-26, published on 10 December 2024. It also 
provides an update on specific areas of interest to the Committee. 

 

Welsh Government 
 

 
 
Climate Change, Environment 
and Infrastructure Committee  

Evidence paper on Draft Budget 
2025-26 – Economy, Energy and 
Planning Main Expenditure 
Group (MEG)  
08/01/2025 

 
 
DD/MM/YYYY 

www.gov.wales Pack Page 119



Welsh Government evidence paper on 2025-26 Draft Budget proposals for the Climate Change, 
Environment and Infrastructure Committee 

2 

Contents 

1. General................................................................................................................. 3 

2. Legislation .......................................................................................................... 6 

3. Climate Change ............................................................................................... 7 

4. Energy and energy efficiency ................................................................... 8 

5. National Infrastructure Commission for Wales (NICW) .............. 10 

6. Ports and Airports ......................................................................................... 11 

7. Summary ........................................................................................................... 12 

 

Pack Page 120



Welsh Government evidence paper on 2025-26 Draft Budget for the Climate Change and 
Infrastructure Committee 

 

3 

1. General 

Budget Priorities 

The table below provides an overview of the Energy, Cardiff International Airport and 
Planning budget expenditure lines within the Economy, Energy and Planning MEG plans 
as published in Draft Budget 2025-26 on 10 December. This confirms an increase in fiscal 
resource (revenue including non-cash) of £8.9m and no changes to capital compared to 
the 2025-26 revised baseline. 

The baseline used for the 2025-26 Draft Budget is the 2024-25 Final Budget (restated 
September 2024) adjusted for recurring baseline adjustments for 2024-25 to support 2024-
25 public sector pay award and increases to pension contributions from April 2024 due to 
a change in rate called Superannuation Contributions Adjusted for Past Experience 
(SCAPE).  There are further baseline adjustments associated with non-recurrent funding for 
Financial Transactions (FT) Capital. 

Our funding decisions in this draft budget have been underpinned by our government 
priorities. How we deploy our resources is key for maximising delivery. Our priorities for 
Economy, Energy and Planning are clear: We want to create green jobs that grow the 
economy, tackle the climate crisis and restore nature, while making families better off; and 
accelerate planning decisions to grow the Welsh economy.  

 

 

To support our priorities, we have prioritised funding for 2025-26 in this budget: 

• An additional £5m is allocated to support our green energy, to enable development 
of new renewable energy projects and local energy projects in Wales. This investment 
will help support emission reduction across Wales and support growth in our local 
economy.   

• Accelerating infrastructure planning decisions are key to enable the economy to 
growth and thereby are we are investing an additional £3.741m in this area.  The 

Pack Page 121



Welsh Government evidence paper on 2025-26 Draft Budget proposals for the Climate Change, 
Environment and Infrastructure Committee 

4 

additional funding will provide Planning and Environment Decisions Wales and 
Planning Directorate with the resources necessary to increase capacity to deal with 
the growing number of infrastructure application in a timely way. 

• Our funding for the Welsh Government Energy Service provides critical advice and 
support to public bodies as they work towards our shared ambition of a net zero 
Welsh public sector by 2030. 

A detailed explanation of how the draft budget reflect commitments made in prior 
financial years, with reference to the Committee’s report on the 2024-25 draft budget. 

We have taken into consideration the recommendations in the Committee’s report from 
the Draft Budget 2024-25, and we continue to prioritise actions that support the scaling up 
of renewable energy in Wales to achieve our renewable energy targets. This includes action 
we are taking to deliver the renewable energy deep dive recommendations. Specifically in 
2025-26 we will work with the renewable sector to deliver a sector deal in line with one of 
the recommendations from the deep dive. This sector deal will outline commitments from 
government and industry to deliver on our targets in a way that delivers greater benefits to 
Wales.  Bringing together the Economy, Energy and Planning responsibilities under one 
umbrella will ensure that we have oversight of the key policy tools to deliver on our 
renewable energy ambitions for Wales.  

Our budget also secures additional funding for Trydan Gwyrdd Cymru to deliver large scale 
renewable energy projects on the Welsh Government woodland Estate. Our public sector 
led approach will make a significant contribution to our aims to deliver more Welsh 
ownership of renewable energy investment in Wales. We have set Trydan Gwyrdd Cymru 
with a target to deliver 250MW of new capacity by 2030 and a further 750MW by 2040. 
With the company now formally launched, we have a framework agreement in place and 
the company have an independent board to provide oversight to their operations.  

Information on the impact of UK Government fiscal and policy decisions on budget 
allocations/ Benefits for Wales arising from UK Government fiscal decisions and policies, 
including the UK National Wealth Fund  

We welcome the focus from the new UK Government on energy and the clean power 2030 
Mission to create greater energy security and create jobs and green growth. As part of the 
drive to accelerate the delivery of new renewable energy projects the UK Government is 
establishing Great British Energy. Great British Energy will support new investment across 
Great Britian utilising funding available from the UK National Wealth Fund. We are working 
with Great British energy to work in partnership to accelerate delivery in Wales using our 
established delivery functions including Trydan Gwyrdd Cymru and Ynni Cymru.   

There has been positive engagement between the new UKG Government including early 
meetings with the Prime Minister, Secretary of State for Wales and Secretary of State for 
Business and Trade which demonstrates a clear commitment to work together to deliver 
on a few of our shared ambitions to deliver growth and jobs in Wales.    

UKG published a Green Paper on an Industrial Strategy and Welsh in October. This sets out 
a 10-year plan aiming to encourage growth and create jobs by providing businesses with 
the stability and certainty they need to invest. It will deliberately target growth-driving 
places and sectors and aims to remove the barriers to growth across the economy. At an 
official level there has been positive early engagement with UKG with respect to developing 
the Industrial Strategy which has focused on the comparative strengths of Wales at a UK 

Pack Page 122



Welsh Government evidence paper on 2025-26 Draft Budget for the Climate Change and 
Infrastructure Committee 

 

5 

level.  A UKG workshop with officials took place on the 19 November and we are currently 
gathering intelligence to inform our response which will align with the four priorities 
outlined within the Economic Mission.   

 

The future development of ‘green steel’ in and around the Port Talbot area we believe can 
and should play a significant to deliver long-term, sustainable, inclusive, and resilient 
growth. We intend to put forward a strong argument to that effect within our response to 
the UKG.  In addition, we will also be highlighting the potential for a range of subsectors 
within clean energy sector which we believe can play an important role in future years.  

However, while engagement has been positive with respect to the Industrial Strategy, there 
is still a lack of clarity about future funding to support delivery, with uncertainty on detail 
in areas such as the National Wealth Fund and the Shared Prosperity Fund. The National 
Infrastructure Bank under its new name the ‘National Wealth Fund’ will be provided with 
an additional £5.8bn (making a total of £27.8bn). Both the UKIB and the British Business 
Bank would be ‘aligned’ under the fund. This will be followed by further changes made via 
legislation which will seek to widen the funds remit.   Officials are working closely with UKG 
to understand how the fund will work in practice and its relationship with other institutions 
such as Great British Energy and the Development Bank for Wales. 

Pack Page 123



Welsh Government evidence paper on 2025-26 Draft Budget proposals for the Climate Change, 
Environment and Infrastructure Committee 

6 

2. Legislation 

How the draft budget provides for delivery of newly enacted and planned Welsh 
Government legislation. 

There is no newly enacted or planned Welsh Government legislation for the 2025-26 Draft 
Budget within my responsibility relevant to this Committee. 
 

Pack Page 124



Welsh Government evidence paper on 2025-26 Draft Budget for the Climate Change and 
Infrastructure Committee 

 

7 

3. Climate Change 

Delivery of the policies and proposals in the Net Zero Wales plan 

This budget supports the delivery of activity to decarbonise the energy system in Wales to 
ensure we remain on track to meet our statutory targets to reach net zero by 2050. We 
have recently published consultations on our policy on carbon capture, use and storage 
and hydrogen in Wales. Our vision for the future of industry and energy generation in Wales 
is one in which sustainable industries are retained in Wales and continue to generate high-
quality jobs and other benefits for the communities in which they operate. Our proposed 
policy highlights that we will support Carbon Capture and Storage (CCS) and hydrogen 
projects where they make a clear, measurable and sustained contribution to 
decarbonisation or the transition away from fossil fuels in Wales. Our budget decisions will 
support the implementation of our CCS and hydrogen policies including through updating 
Planning Policy Wales.  

The Welsh Government has led activity across all local authorities in Wales to develop Local 
Area Energy Plans (LAEPs). These plans show the actions that need to be taken across all 
local authorities in Wales to achieve net zero by 2050. We will continue to provide resources 
across the regions to implement the actions set out in the Local Area Energy Plans and 
bring forward the scale of investment that those plans identify. We will provide capital 
funding through this budget to support the early implementation of activity identified in 
the LAEPs. We have invested revenue funding of £0.650m in 2025-26 to develop these 
Energy plans.  

In 2024 we published a heat strategy for Wales. Our heat strategy sets out a pathway to 
decarbonising heat in domestic and industrial settings to achieve net zero and 
demonstrates how we can reach the ambition for a net zero public sector by 2030. It sets 
a vision for clean affordable heat in Wales. Alongside the strategy we also published Mine 
Water Heat Opportunity maps to inform local authorities and developers who wish to 
explore the opportunities for mine heat in Wales. We will continue to help support 
opportunities to decarbonise heat in line with our heat strategy by providing capital 
funding to deliver local heat decarbonisation investment across Wales.  

Pack Page 125



Welsh Government evidence paper on 2025-26 Draft Budget proposals for the Climate Change, 
Environment and Infrastructure Committee 

8 

4. Energy and energy efficiency 

Delivery of renewable energy and public sector energy efficiency programmes, including 
specific allocations for the Welsh Government Energy Service, Ynni Cymru, Community 
Energy Wales and Trydan Gwyrdd Cymru. Other allocations to support the delivery of 
renewable energy targets. 

We continue in the 2025-26 budget to prioritise the delivery of renewable energy 
generation in Wales to support our targets to generate enough renewable energy in Wales 
to meet the equivalent of our electricity needs by 2035. We have invested an additional 
£4.5m revenue funding to support Trydan Gwyrdd Cymru and have prioritised the activity 
to retain benefit and value in Wales from projects developed by our renewable energy 
company. Our funding will continue to support the company and fund the development 
work on the five priority sites for Trydan. These projects will aim to generate 500MW of new 
generation, enough to power 400,000 homes. Trydan will continue to develop these 
projects working with our communities to understand how we can deliver local benefits.  

Alongside Trydan Gwyrdd Cymru we have continued to prioritise in this budget the delivery 
of Ynni Cymru. Ynni Cymru supports the scaling up of community renewable energy 
projects to develop smart local energy solutions to better match local supply to local 
demand. Building on the success of the £10m capital fund in 2024-25, we have maintained 
funding at £10m to support further investment through Ynni Cymru to invest in local 
projects that will support the decarbonisation of our homes, businesses and communities 
across the whole of Wales.    

We have committed to working with industry to develop a renewable energy sector deal. 
The aim of a sector deal is focused on removing barriers and working closely with industry 
on maximising the value of benefits of renewable energy projects in Wales. Our budget will 
support the work to agree a deal with industry in 2025-26.  

 
The investment in the Welsh Government Energy Service supports our ambition to have a 
net zero public sector in Wales by 2030 and forms a key part of our work in the Climate 
Change and Rural Affairs portfolio. The service helps public sector organisations develop 
decarbonisation plans which not only reduce their carbon footprint but also deliver cost 
savings to the public purpose through energy efficiency. A budget of £21m has been 
allocated to deliver both loans and grants for continued investment in energy efficiency 
and renewable energy within the public sector. Details of the Welsh Government Energy 
Service allocation can be found in evidence provided by the Deputy First Minister and 
Cabinet Secretary for Climate Change & Rural Affairs at the Climate Change, Environment 
and Infrastructure Committee. 

 

We continue to support the community energy sector in Wales including through our work 
with Community Energy Wales and the Welsh Government Energy Service.  We have also 
prioritised funding for Ynni Cymru with £2.47m revenue and £10m capital in 2025-26. Ynni 
Cymru will continue to support the scaling up of community renewable energy projects in 
Wales working with Community Energy Wales and other strategic stakeholders in Wales.  

 

Pack Page 126



Welsh Government evidence paper on 2025-26 Draft Budget for the Climate Change and 
Infrastructure Committee 

 

9 

 

Policies and programmes to support decarbonisation in the housing sector, including 
allocations for the Optimised Retrofit Programme, the Warm Homes Nest Scheme and the 
Green Homes Wales Scheme 
 

Policy responsibility for this activity rests with the Cabinet Secretary for Housing and Local 
Government and evidence will be provided by the Cabinet Secretary as part of her evidence 
to the Committee. 

 

Pack Page 127



Welsh Government evidence paper on 2025-26 Draft Budget proposals for the Climate Change, 
Environment and Infrastructure Committee 

10 

5. National Infrastructure Commission for Wales 
(NICW) 

Details of budget allocations for the NICW 
 
An additional £3.741m revenue funding has been invested in the 2025-26 budget to deliver 
the First Minister’s priority to accelerate infrastructure planning decisions.  £0.400m of the 
budget within the Planning and Regulation BEL will be used to support of the National 
Infrastructure Commission.  

Pack Page 128



Welsh Government evidence paper on 2025-26 Draft Budget for the Climate Change and 
Infrastructure Committee 

 

11 

6. Ports and Airports 

How the draft budget will support the development of Welsh maritime and sea ports. 
Specifically, any allocations to support the implementation of a long-term strategy for 
Cardiff Airport in the 2025-26 draft budget, how this will be monitored to ensure it provides 
value for money and whether there are any plans for in year allocations in the current 2024-
25 financial year to support the strategy.  
 
The draft budget will support developing a Maritime Ports strategy for Wales before the 
end of this Senedd term. The intention is to develop this alongside the new logistics and 
freight plan for Wales - another commitment under the Wales Transport Strategy - given 
the significant interdependencies between the sectors.  
  
In response to any allocations to support the implementation of a long-term strategy for 
Cardiff Airport. The Competition & Markets Authority’s (CMA) assessment of the Welsh 
Government’s proposed long-term investment in Cardiff Airport was published on 2 
October.  I issued a Written Statement in response on the same day.   
 
The Welsh Government is not going to comment on the detail of the CMA report at this 
stage.  As per the Written Statement, we are now taking the time needed to give full 
consideration to their assessment.  The Welsh Government remains open to refining the 
proposed programme of investment on the basis of that assessment and the 
representations made to the CMA by interested third parties. Once we have concluded our 
work in response to the CMA's report, and Cabinet Secretaries have taken a final decision 
on what form any investment package should take, I will update the Senedd. 
 
Allocations for the proposed long-term package of investment for Cardiff Airport will be 
made once Cabinet Secretaries have decided on how they would like to proceed, in the 
light of the Competition & Markets Authority's feedback on the proposed investment. 
 

Pack Page 129



Welsh Government evidence paper on 2025-26 Draft Budget proposals for the Climate Change, 
Environment and Infrastructure Committee 

12 

7. Summary 

The plans for the budget expenditure lines relevant to this Committee, within the Economy, 
Energy and Planning MEG for Draft Budget 2025-26 is presented to the Committee for 
consideration. 

 

Rebecca Evans 

Cabinet Secretary for Economy, Energy and Planning 

 

Pack Page 130



Huw Irranca-Davies AS/MS 
Y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros 
Newid Hinsawdd a Materion Gwledig 
Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Climate 
Change & Rural Affairs 
 

 

Huw Irranca-Davies AS/MS 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Newid Hinsawdd a Materion 
Gwledig 
Cabinet Secretary for Climate Change & Rural Affairs 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Huw.Irranca-Davies@llyw.cymru 
               Correspondence.Huw.Irranca-Davies@gov.wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 
Ein cyf/Our ref: MA/HIDCC/PO/0393/24 
 
 
Llŷr Gruffydd MS  
Chair 
Climate Change, Environment and Infrastructure Committee  
Welsh Parliament  
Cardiff  
Cardiff Bay 
CF99 1SN  

 
16 December 2024  

 
 

Dear Llŷr,  
 
I am writing to inform you the UK Emissions Trading Scheme (ETS) Authority (comprising of 
the Welsh Government, the UK Government, the Scottish Government, and the Northern 
Ireland Executive), has today published a consultation document and an Authority response 
related to ongoing work to review free allocation of allowances within the scheme. Free 
allocation policy is designed to mitigate carbon leakage resulting from exposure to the UK 
ETS carbon price. They are allowances that are provided for free to industries who face 
competition globally from competitors based in countries with weaker climate change 
mitigation policy (carbon leakage). Free allocations are currently the primary policy lever in 
mitigating carbon leakage. 
 
In December 2023 the Free Allocation Review consultation was published, which sought 

views on how free allocation policy could be adjusted to be better targeted to UK sectors 

most at risk of carbon leakage. The aim was to implement any changes ahead of the 

second allocation period in 2026. However, in September 2024 the Authority launched a 

targeted consultation which asked for views on delaying the implementation of any changes 

until 2027. This was proposed to provide additional time for careful consideration of 

stakeholder views and policy development in what is a complex and challenging area, as 

well as align changes to free allocation policy with the UK Governments plans to introduce a 

UK Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism (CBAM) in 2027. The alignment with a UK 

CBAM is particularly important as it is another way to mitigate carbon leakage and, as such, 

is likely to impact the UK ETS free allocations policy. Stakeholders were therefore strongly 

in favour of aligning the implementation of these policies. The “UK Emissions Trading 

Scheme: Moving the Second UK ETS Free Allocation Period Authority Response” published 

today confirms that the proposed delay will take place.  

  

Pack Page 131

Agenda Item 4.6

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Huw.Irranca-Davies@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Huw.Irranca-Davies@gov.wales


The consultation document being released is the “UK Emissions Trading Scheme Free 
Allocation Review: Carbon Leakage Consultation.” This follows the proposals from the 
December 2023 consultation aimed at updating the Carbon Leakage List, which is a list of 
sectors at risk of carbon leakage. This new consultation provides more detail on those 
proposals and seeks further input from stakeholders regarding our approach to carbon 
leakage. It offers additional details on the methodology behind the Carbon Leakage List and 
considers revised Carbon Leakage Indicator values based on the carbon leakage risks 
faced by UK industries. Moreover, it invites stakeholders to provide their opinions on 
whether to adopt a UK-specific Carbon Leakage List or to maintain the existing one. Lastly, 
the consultation includes proposals and solicits feedback on how free allocations should be 
adjusted for sectors that will be subject to the proposed UK CBAM. 
 
Through the UK ETS, we must encourage decarbonisation in a way that does not risk 
disadvantaging Welsh industry and supports their decarbonisation pathways to a net zero 
world. These publications represent a crucial next step in improving free allocation within 
the UK ETS, ensuring support is given to those industries who need it most. I expect to write 
again regarding the outcome of further consultations and policy proposals in the coming 
months. I am copying this letter to the Chair of the Legislation, Justice and Constitution 
Committee.  
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
Huw Irranca-Davies AS/MS 
Y Dirprwy Brif Weinidog ac Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Newid Hinsawdd a Materion Gwledig 
Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Climate Change & Rural Affairs 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 132



Ken Skates AS/MS 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Drafnidiaeth a Gogledd Cymru 
Cabinet Secretary for Transport and North Wales 
 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Ken.Skates@llyw.cymru 
Correspondence.Ken.Skates@gov.wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Ein cyf/Our ref KS/PO/402/2024 
 
 
Llyr Gruffydd MS  
 
Chair, Climate Change, Environment and  
Infrastructure Committee  
 
 
 
 

18 December 2024 
 

 
 
Dear Llyr 
 
I am writing regarding the commitments I made during my attendance at the general scrutiny 
session on 27 November, listed below for ease.  
 
1. New air conditioning units  
2. Transport for Wales (TfW) Fleet Targets 
3. Cash Payments on Trains 
4. Pavement Parking 
 
The first 3 commitments are operational matters for TfW. I have enclosed a letter to James 
Price, CEO TfW and asked him to provide you with detailed responses to the issues. 
 
Further to the information I provided to the committee, I would like to re-iterate that we are 
transforming the Core Valley Lines (CVL) by investing over £1bn to deliver a turn up and go 
service. As part of this transformation, I am delighted that TfW are now running brand-new 
electric trains. This is truly a historic moment and a significant milestone towards delivering 
the South Wales Metro.  
 
Overall in 2024, TfW services have been more reliable than the other operators in Wales. We 
are providing faster and more frequent services thanks to our £800m investment in new fleets. 
 
 When all of the brand-new fleet is delivered, TfW will have 484 carriages available compared 
to the 270 carriages inherited in 2018. This is a massive increase in capacity that will benefit 
passengers across Wales. We are already seeing the benefits with passenger journeys 
increasing by 19%, year-on-year, on TfW services for the most recent period. This 
demonstrates the positive impact of improved performance by TfW, aligned with the continued 
roll out of the new trains and service enhancements resulting in increased passenger 
confidence to use rail services. 

Pack Page 133

Agenda Item 4.7

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Ken.Skates@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Ken.Skates@gov.wales


 
I expect this trend to continue and from the timetable change on 15 December, 60% of all 
TfW services will be run by new trains, with over three quarters of services outside of the CVL 
operated by the new fleets. Passengers are also benefiting from the innovation that TfW are 
delivering. The roll-out of Pay As You Go ticketing has now been extended to 95 stations 
across South Wales, including all Valleys lines and on routes to Bridgend, Maesteg and 
Abergavenny. It is now possible to travel from Pyle to Chepstow with a contactless Pay as 
You Go ticket and benefit from daily and weekly price capping ensuring passengers benefit 
from the best value fares. TfW are the first train operator outside of London and the South 
East of England to introduce this system. 
 
I’ve also been pleased with how TfW have improved their performance in managing the 
impact from major events. They carried over 130,000 people in and out of Cardiff this 
November for the Autumn Internationals, Nations League and the UEFA Women’s 
Championship Qualification, providing additional capacity and services where it was possible 
for them to do so.  
  
With regards to pavement parking, the Welsh Government is committed to tackling this issue 
because of its significant impact on pedestrians, particularly those with disabilities, parents 
with pushchairs and older people. Ensuring pavements are safe and accessible for everyone 
remains a priority. 
 
In Wales (as in most of England except London) most parking offences are subject to civil 
enforcement, with local authorities having powers to implement, manage and enforce parking 
restrictions made using Traffic Regulation Orders (TRO) under the Road Traffic Regulation 
Act 1984.  
 
The Traffic Management Act 2004 decriminalised parking offences allowing all Welsh local 
authorities to have the powers of civil enforcement. This means that they can now use Civil 
Enforcement Officers (CEOs) to issue Penalty Charge Notices (PCNs) when a parking 
contravention has occurred. Those in receipt of a PCN can appeal to the Traffic Penalty 
Tribunal, which covers Wales and England outside London.  
 
Currently, however, local authorities have no powers to enforce against parking on 
pavements, except where there are local parking restrictions or the vehicle is an HGV over 
7.5t. Local authorities may make Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs) banning pavement parking 
in defined areas, as well as indicating through the use of road markings and signs if there are 
places in those streets where vehicles can be parked partly or wholly on the pavement. 
Physical measures such as railings or planters can be used to prevent vehicles from being 
driven onto pavements but these add to street clutter, reduce the effective width of the 
pavement and endanger visually impaired people.  
 
The police also have powers to enforce against vehicles obstructing the highway, which 
includes the pavement, under several statutes and regulations. However, these powers are 
seldom used, mainly due to a lack of resources, but also because of the burden of proof 
necessary to achieve a criminal conviction for obstruction. As a result, little enforcement 
against pavement parking currently takes place in Wales. 
 
We are liaising closely with the Department for Transport (DfT), which is exploring measures 
to address the unnecessary obstruction of pavements. They are currently advising their 
Ministers as to a way forward and we will consider how this can help Wales.   
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 134

https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.legislation.gov.uk%2Fukpga%2F2004%2F18%2Fcontents&data=05%7C02%7CGareth.Chard%40gov.wales%7C36a1cbc5febc4cb176a108dd13bb6c73%7Ca2cc36c592804ae78887d06dab89216b%7C0%7C0%7C638688417953672957%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=lmm58oQz7AFQ9Z5Nw54I9KY0capGQrLhoHGCgZNYS%2B8%3D&reserved=0


 
 
If there is anything further you require please get in touch.  
 
Yours sincerely  
 

 
 
 
Ken Skates AS/MS 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Drafnidiaeth a Gogledd Cymru 
Cabinet Secretary for Transport and North Wales 

Pack Page 135



Ken Skates AS/MS 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Drafnidiaeth a Gogledd Cymru 
Cabinet Secretary for Transport and North Wales 
 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Ken.Skates@llyw.cymru 
Correspondence.Ken.Skates@gov.wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Ein cyf/Our ref KS/PO/403/2024 
 
 
James Price 
Chief Executive Officer 
Transport for Wales 
 
 

 
 18 December 2024 

 
 
Dear James 
 
I recently attended a general scrutiny session for the Climate Change, Environment, and 
Infrastructure Committee. You can find the full transcript of the meeting at Climate Change, 
Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 27/11/2024 - Welsh Parliament.  
 
During my session, several questions were raised regarding operational matters for 
Transport for Wales and we agreed to provide the committee with written updates. They 
include:  
 

• Update on new air conditioning units: 
https://record.senedd.wales/Committee/15053#C633352 

• Transport for Wales fleet targets: 
https://record.senedd.wales/Committee/15053#C633454 

• Cash payments on trains: 
https://record.senedd.wales/Committee/15053#C633569 
 

I would be grateful if you could write directly to the Chair of the committee, Llyr Huws 
Gruffydd (SeneddClimate@senedd.wales), with detailed responses within 14 days of 
receipt of this letter.  
 
Yours sincerely  
 

 
 
Ken Skates AS/MS 
Ysgrifennydd y Cabinet dros Drafnidiaeth a Gogledd Cymru 
Cabinet Secretary for Transport and North Wales 

Pack Page 136

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Ken.Skates@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Ken.Skates@gov.wales
https://record.assembly.wales/Committee/15053
https://record.assembly.wales/Committee/15053
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Frecord.senedd.wales%2FCommittee%2F15053%23C633352&data=05%7C02%7CGareth.Chard%40gov.wales%7Cecd1c841be1b479da0a508dd1486584e%7Ca2cc36c592804ae78887d06dab89216b%7C0%7C0%7C638689289434548072%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=%2BUFM8VmOSZFHzYWIzsBsafq%2F3PtoNGgRTpFbmIEVpkI%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Frecord.senedd.wales%2FCommittee%2F15053%23C633454&data=05%7C02%7CGareth.Chard%40gov.wales%7Cecd1c841be1b479da0a508dd1486584e%7Ca2cc36c592804ae78887d06dab89216b%7C0%7C0%7C638689289434582266%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=9b57BoNDYFGlpcDGtlvjgtchGeht78wAhrJPPw%2BygnA%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Frecord.senedd.wales%2FCommittee%2F15053%23C633569&data=05%7C02%7CGareth.Chard%40gov.wales%7Cecd1c841be1b479da0a508dd1486584e%7Ca2cc36c592804ae78887d06dab89216b%7C0%7C0%7C638689289434611470%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=4yMaGjLrvM6iZ%2FClor1lT2BSnDmN3z0gInpqH0XqBUw%3D&reserved=0
mailto:SeneddClimate@senedd.wales


 
Copied to Climate Change, Environment, and Infrastructure Committee 

Pack Page 137



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 137

Agenda Item 7By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42


	Agenda
	2 Scrutiny of the Welsh Government Draft Budget 2025-26 - Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Climate Change and Rural Affairs
	Paper - Welsh Government

	3 Scrutiny of the Welsh Government Draft Budget 2025-26 - Cabinet Secretary for Transport and North Wales
	Paper - Welsh Government
	Additional evidence from the Cabinet Secretary for Transport and North Wales to the Chair in relation to the Draft Budget 2025-26

	4.1 Restoration of opencast mining sites
	Response from the Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Climate Change and Rural Affairs to the Chair in relation to the committee's inquiry on the restoration of opencast mining sites
	Letter from the Chair to Merthyr (South Wales) Ltd in relation to the committee's inquiry on the restoration of opencast mining sites

	4.2 Inter-ministerial Group on UK-EU Relations
	Letter from the Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Climate Change and Rural Affairs to the Chair in relation to the Interministerial Group on Net Zero, Energy and Climate Change

	4.3 Inter-Institutional Relations Agreement
	4.4 Petition P-06-1478 Comprehensively review NRW and its failure to deliver its statutory obligations to protect Wales
	4.5 Welsh Government Draft Budget 2025-26
	MA_RE_11105_24 - CCEI Committee Draft Budget Scrutiny - 2025-26
	MA_RE_11105_24 - CCEI Committee Draft Budget Scrutiny - 2025-26 - Doc 2 Evidence Paper

	4.6 UK Emissions Trading Scheme - Common Framework
	4.7 General scrutiny of the Cabinet Secretary for Transport and North Wales
	Letter from the Cabinet Secretary for Transport and North Wales to Transport for Wales following the 27 November scrutiny session

	7 Consideration of the Supplementary Legislative Consent Memorandum (Memorandum No.4) on the Water (Special Measures) Bill



